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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

DEAN E. GILBERT CIVIL ACTION

VERSUS NO: 17-0478&/w
17-12195

SIDNEY H. CATES, ET AL. SECTION: “H” (4)

ORDER AND REASONS

Before the Courtis Plaintiffs Motion for Leave to File First Amendmert of
Consolidated Complaint(R. Doc. 33)andMotion to File a Supplementd or SecondAmended
Complaint (R. Doc. 65). ThemotiorsareopposedR. Doc.41, 45, 46, 67, 68 hemotionswere
heardon thebriefs.

l. Background

A. Original Complaint

Plaintiff, DeanGilbert (“DeanJr.”), filed this lawsuit contendingthat his constitutional

rights! Title 42U.SC. § 198%, 1983, and1985' wereviolatedandallegesstatelaw claims’ in a

! Gilbert contendsthat the defendantsviolated his Civil Rights in violation of the First Amendment
(protectingthe free exerciseof religion, speechand press,assemblyand petition for redressof grievances)Fourth
Amendment(protectstheright to be securein your houseand papersagainstsearchandseizure) Fifth Amendment
(providesfor a grandjury, protectsagainstdouble jeopardy, providesfor due process,and againstcompulsory
witness),Eighth Amendment(protectsagainstexcessivebail and cruel and unusualpunishment)and Fourteenth
Amendmen{protectsagainstawsthatabridgethe privilegesor immunities of citizens,providesfor dueprocessand
equalprotection).

2 Section1981protectstheright to makeandenforcecontracts.
3 Sectim 1983providestheright to suethe governmenfor civil rightsviolations.

4 Section1985 providesfor damagedor a conspiracyto interferewith civil rights andfailure to reportif
conspiracyis known.

5 Gilbert also allegesthe following statelaw violations: (1) malicious prosecution;(2) conspiracy;(3)
retaliation;(4) negligenceand(5) intentionalinflection of emotionaldistress.
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statecourt successiorproceedingnvolving thedeathof his moher BernadetteGainesGilbert.
DeanJr. contendghat after his motherdied intestateon December9, 2011, his brothedwight
persuadedheir father, DeanGilbert Sr., who was experiencingcognitive decline,that DeanJr.
hadkilled his motherandconspiedwith otherrelativesto kill theirfather.

While thefatherremainedn Michiganwith his brotherDeanJr. allegesthat RoadHome
demandedhat he open hisnother’'sestateto pay acontractorfor constructiorwork done orher
home posHurricaneKatrina throughits Small RentalPropertyProgram As aresult,heopened
his mother’ssuccessiothroughDuty Judge Robigiarrussoratherthantheallottedjudge,Judge
SidneyCateson February29, 2012andwasappointed thsuccession’administratolon Marchl,
2012. He contendghathenotified all heirsof his appointmenriy voicemailandcertified mail. R.
Doc. 33-1, p. 9.

TheCourt noteshatuponlearningthatDeanJr. hadfiled a motionseekingo havehimself
appoined as successionadministratoy the family membersfiled a motion to revoke the
appointment ompril 26, 2012. Dueto a proceduratlefectin the appointment pleadingSgan
Jr.’sappointmentvasdeemechull andthis sagabegan.

DeanJr. allegeshatJudgeCatesusedhisjudicial office to retaliateagainsthim. He does
not allegehow the judgeetaliatedand nor doesheallegewhy he wouldretaliate. Nevertheless
he alsoallegedthat the statecourtjudge conspiredwith Sheriff Marlin Gusmanand “others” to
violate hiscivil rights.

While the originalcomplaintclearly attemptsto asserta civil rights claim againstJudge

Catesand Sheriff Gusman, théawsuitalsoidentify asparties,Baldwin HaspelBurke & Mayer,

® OnNovember8, 2017 the LouisianaFourthCircuit affirmedthe Judgementf Possessiorenderedy the
trial court on partially May 2012andOctober12, 2015relativeto his mother’'ssuccession.The Circuit courtnoted
thatDeanin theunderlyingproceedindiled amultitudeof pleadingsall containingabusiveanddiscourteoutanguage
towardthejudgesof Civil District Courtandthelaw firm representinghe succession.



LLC, a Louisianalaw firm, ThomasJ. Cortazzo,Joel Mendler, Karl Zimmermanand Brodie
Glenn attorneyswith the Baldwin Haspelfirm who wereretainedo represenhis brotheiDwight
in thesuccessioproceedings DeanJr.alsonamedhis brotheDwight Gilbert, Michelle Mouton,
the law clerk to JudgeCates,and Laurie Hendrickson, the counteporterto JudgeCatesas
defendantsFinally in the original complaint,DeanJr. alsosuedthe Parishof Orleans. He does
not, howeversetforth any allegationsagainstany of the defendantotherthan his brother, the
judge,andarathervagueallegationagainstSheriff Gusman.

Thereafter motionsto dismisswerefiled by the sheriff, courtrepater, the law clerk, the
judge, the attorneysindtheir law firm. R. Docs. 3, 5, 6, 11, 22, 2ahd 29. In responseo the
motionsto dismiss DeanJr. filed a motionseekingpermissionto file anamendedcomplaint on
October 23, 2017,which was granted.R. Doc. 13. Dean Jr. was grantedan extensionuntil
November 12, 2017 thle hisamendedcomplaint. R. Doc. 14. He thenfiled a motionseeking
anextensionof the deadline until November 27, 20Which wasgrantedby the undersignedR.
Doc.16.Dean X. filed thesubjectmotiononFebruaryl2, 2018, somthree(3) monthdateseeking
to amendthecomplaint.R. Doc. 33. This proposed complains eighty-two (82) pagesn length.

B. The ProposedAmended Complaint

The proposeddmendedComplaintseekso addeighteen(18) new defendantandassert
new cause®f action some havingriminal connotationg. In the proposedmendedtomplaint,
DeanJr. allegesthatbecausdeandhis brotheido notspeaktio oneanothey hewasnotawareof

thefact thatthe Baldwin Haspelfirm washired usingtheir father'smoneyto have himremoved

"The proposedhewclaimsinclude: (1) fraud; (2) conversioror theft; (3) identity theft; (4) elderabuse(5)
falseimprisonment|6) falseimprisonment(7) “over detention;"(8) defamation (9) legalmalpractice{10) invasion
of privacy; (11) breachof fiduciary duty; (12) unlawful arrestin presencef the media;(13) denialof dueprocess;
(14) violation of RICO statute;(15) mail fraud; (16) wire fraud;and(17) bankfraud.



asadministratorR. Doc. 33-1, p.9, 1 41He contendghat the Baldwin Haspellawyersalleged
that removingDeanJr. as administratorwas necessaryo protectthe successionsssetsyhich
accordingo DeanJr. hadalreadybeenconvertedoy his brotheandhislawyers.ld.

1. Baldwin HaspelBurke & Mayer, LLC (“Baldwin Haspel”)

Dean Jr. alleges that the Baldwin Haspel lawyers (Cortazzo, Rouchell, Mendler,
ZimmermanGlenn)?® suedin their “individual andofficial capacitieg failed to advise the judge
that they had alreadytransferredand convertedestatefunds. He allegesthat he was enjoined
without ahearinganddened dueprocessHe allegesthatthelawyerthentook the pleadingnet
with JudgeCatesor hislaw clerk, andthe judgesigneda temporaryestrainingorder,which he
calleda“secondexparteorder,” removindeandr.asadministratopending dearing.Healleges
thatthe hearinglatewasopenendedwith no scheduld hearingdateon the Ruldo ShowCause
why he should beemovedasadministratorR. Doc. 33-1, I 42DeanJr. allegeshatoncehewas
temporarily removed he did not get notice of theheaing to permanentlyremove himas
administratorand he was alsodenieda copy of the transcriptby the courtreporter. Id. at p. 10,
144.

DeanJr. allegesthat after the ordemwassigned,his brotherreturnedto the family rental
home, evicted him from the propertyand changedthe locks. He allegesthat the hearingfor
possessiomwasscheduledn April of 2012, despit¢his fact hewasneitherservednor notified of
the hearingoecausedhelaw firm had him permanentlyremovedas administratorandissuedan

orderof usufructto his father DeanJr. contendghat the Baldwin Haspellawyershaveclaimed

8 ThomasCortazzo,JohnA. Rouchell Brodie Glenn,Karl ZimmermanandJoelMendlerareeachattorneys
with the Baldwin Haspelfirm who wereretainedby Dwight Gilbertto represenhis fatherin the succession Eachof
thesedefendantsveresuedindividually andin their capacityaspartner.R. Doc. 33-1.



post-judgment moneybatwerenotsharedvith him. As aresult,heallegeghatheneedgo reopen
the Successiomo makehis claim.

2. Clark Hill, P.L.C.

DeanJr. alsosuedthe Michigan law firm privately retainedby his fatherto draft his will
whichresultedin DeanJr. beingdisinheritedR. Doc. 33-2, pp. 9-15.He alsosuedthefirm and
its lawyer, Joseph Bonventurbgecauséhealsoprepareda power ofattorneyfor DeanSr. which
grantedthe poweto handlehis affairsto DeanJr.’s brotherDwight andin theeventof Dwight’s
death,Dwight’s wife, JuliaGilbert. Id. at pp. 14-18.

3. Michelle Mouton

Dean Jr. allegesthat JudgeTiffany Chasecoordinatedwith Michelle Mouton, Judge
Cates’slaw clerk, who servedasa signatoryandissueda Ruleto ShowCauseon apetition for
possessiorR. Doc.33-1, p. 9He alsoseekdo sueherbecaussherefusedo notify him ofcertain
unidentified courprders. Id. atp. 12.DeanJr. allegeghatafterhe complainedbo thejudge’slaw
clerk about not sending hirnopiesof significant orders,the judge issuedan ex parte and sua
sponteprotective ordeagainsthim presumably forbidding hifrom contactingher. He alleged
that duringthe proceeding hehadmanyoral andwritten questionghatweresentto the judge’s
law clerk, butthathis questionsvereignored.ld. at. p. 15.

4. Laurie Hedrickson

After hisfatherwasplacedin possessionf the propertyDeandr. requested copy of the
transcriptfrom JudgeCatess courtreporter,Laurie Hendrickson. He allegesthat Hendrickson
refusedto provide himwith a copy. He contendshat this act deniedhim his civil rights and
violateddue procesdHe allegesthat HendricksonJike Mouton,refusedto ansver questions he

submittedlid.



Dean Jr. allegesthat Hendricksonedited transcriptsand refusedto produce other
transcriptdor him andthemedia.ld. at p. 16.He furtherallegesthat Hendricksordiscriminated
againsthim by denyinghim a publictrial andaccesdo his courffile. Id. atp. 19.

He does notllegehow Hendricksorfdenied him a publictrial,” nor doeshe allegeher
rolein the denial ofaccesdo his courffile,” whichis typically in thecustodyof theclerk of court.
Id. He alsoallegeghatHendricksoneitheraloneor in concertinstigatechis prosecutioby falsely
testifyingagainst himandby provding misleadinginformation.Id. at. p. 20.

Additionally, DeanJr. allegesthat Hendrickson, alongvith the judge sheriff, and law
clerk, intentionallycausechim to befalselyimprisonedandarrestedor which he seekspunitive
damages. He alsoincludesHendricksonn the group of defendantgho conspiredo defraudhis
father and violated Dean Jr.’s due processrights by liquidating and transferringhis father’s
property.ld. atp. 32.

5. JudgeSidneyCates

a. Section1983claims

DeanassertsatherincendiaryallegationsagainstCivil District Court Judge&Catesbothin
his individualandofficial capacities.He allegeshatthe judgeviolatedTitle 42 U.S.C.ASection
1983 becausef allegedconflicts of interestbecausdhe judgepresidedover a casewith “avid
campaigncontributors’ held exparte communicationsvith thecampaigncontributor refusel to
revealanybusinesselaionshipwith thelaw firm, allegedlyinstructedthe courtreporterto delete
portions of thetranscript and avoided orrefusedto consider evidence daflder abuse, undue
influence, theft, identity, moneylaunderingand perjury by Baldwin Haspeland their client,
Dwight Gilbert DeanJr. also allegesthat the judge sealedand then unsealedhe caserecord,

closedandreopenedhe hearingsallowed attorneyCortazzoto waive hisright to local rule 9.5,



and quashedsubpoenagor the medicalrecordsof his father. He allegesthat the judge twice
convictedhim of constructiveand direct “criminal” contempt of court foallegedlythe same
offensewithout due procesdd. atp. 11, 1 45§).

He allegegshatthe judgeefusedo hold thelaw firm accountabléor taking money out of
the safedeposit boxgcreatedopportunitiedor the judge’sriendsto sdl the estateproperty and
chargedexcessivdeesto the estate DeanJr. allegesthat his discoverymotion was denied, the
judge refusedto reause himself after revealingthe “relationship betweenthe judge’spersonal
friendsandthesuccession,allegedy purged documenta thetrial record,anddisinheritedDean
Jr. He allegesthatthejudgeretaliatedagainst hinby denyinghim dueprocessandviolated his
constitutionakightsby assessingconomic sanctions chill hisright to free speech.

In addtion, DeanJr. allegesthat the judge unjustly held him in contemptand sentenced
him to jail for eleven(11) dayswhich he contendss outside of the judge’girisdiction He also
allegesthat the judgetrampledover DeanJr.’s First Amendmentights, refusedto respondo a
bill of particularsandinsistedon convicting hinonvagueandoverbroadchargesDeanJr.alleges
that the judgecommittedfraud by acceptingfalse and perjuredtestimony,false and misleading
documentsaffidavits aswell ascommitting other “gross proceduratrors.”DeanJr. allegeshat
the judge rubbestampedafinal successiororderthatfailedto indicatethefinal value of theestate
andamountdistributedto theheirs.ld. atp. 12.

He alsoallegesthatthe judgeviolated his dueprocessights becausdne wasremovedas
the administratorof his mothes estatewithout ahearing.ld. at p. 41, 1151He allegesthat the
treatmenthe receivedfrom JudgeCatesis becauséhe treatslighter skinnedAfrican Americans

morefavorablythandarkerskinnedAfrican Americansid.



While theinitial removalorderwasidentifiedastemporarywhenDeanJr. showed ugor
thehearingthe judgeallegedlysawhim, deniedhis requestandremovedhim asadministratorof
his mother’'sestate.

b. Injunction Against ProspectiveRetaliation

DeanJr. seeksatemporaryrestrainingorderand permanentnjunction prohibiting Judge
Catedrom retaliatingagainshim. He allegesthateveryorderissuedoy JudgeCatesagainsthim
wasretaliatoryandcontendghatit is becausdeis adark skinnedAfrican American.R. Doc. 33-
1, § 45-54.Specifically, Dean Jr. requeststhat this court issue a temporaryrestrainingorder
preventing Judg€atedrom exercisingurisdictionof hismother’'ssuccession, in connectianth
his needto reopenthe successionand he allegesthat he cannot dso without therisk of being
imprisonedby JudgeCates.

c. Fraud

DeanJr. also allegesthat the defendantsommitteda fraud upon the courbecausdhe
successiorproceedingwas wrought with false and perjuredtestimony false and misleading
documentandaffidavits andotherprocedurakrrors. He allegeshathedoesnotseekto reverse
anyof therulingsrenderedn thesuccessiogaseld. atp. 12,46 DeanJr.alsodlegesthatJudge
Cates after learning about media queries dueto his alleged treatment of and unequal
administrationof justiceby dark versusight skinnedAfrican Americans,sealedtherecord and
barredthe mediafrom observing thdinal sanctionsheaing. Id. at p. 13, § 50.DeanJr. seeksa
temporaryrestrainingorderanda preliminaryinjunctionto prevent Judg€atesfrom exercising
jurisdiction over the nowclosedcaseinvolving theSuccessiorf BernadetteGainesGilbert. 1d.
atp. 14, 9 55He allegesthat heis “barred” from fully disclosingto this court thereasonhe is

seekinganinjunctionagainstludgeCatesbutwould dosoin camera.



d. First Amendment Rights

DeanJr. alsoallegesthat JudgeCatesviolatedhis exerciseof hisFirst AmendmenRights
when heignoredhis questions on pendingatters. As aresult,DeanJr. allegesthat he would
resubmit the questiorier consideratiorbecause¢heywererelevantto theissuebefore the court.
Heitemizesa sundry of questionghichchallengethe judge’s rulings, histaff’'sactionandrefusal
to authorize the production of documerdadinformationpost hisremovalasthe Administrator
of the SuccessiofiHe contendshatbecausé¢he judgewasinsultedandcategorizedis queriesas
insulting or discourteous, the judggolated DeanJr.’s right to free speechwhenthe judgeheld
him in contemptremandechim to jail, closedthe proceedingrom mediascrutinyandordered
him to paytenthousand dollars afine to thejudge’s“campaigncontributor.”ld. atp. 17,165

e. Conspiracyto Retaliate

Deangenerallyallegesthat JudgeCatesconspiredwith Baldwin, CortazzoMendlerand
Moutonto retaliateagainsthis conductvhich claimsviolateshisright to protectspeechld. 70,
P.18.Thegravamerof Deans’scomplaintis thathechallengeghecourt’'s authorityto managets
caseswvhich cannofconflict with his absoluteight to free speech.

f. Contempt ProceedingViolated Sixth Amendment

DeanJr. allegesthatthe judge, hisaw clerk, andthe courtreporterdiscriminatedagainst
him becausd&ehadarightto a publictrial andaccesso thecourtrecordwasdenied.He complains

thathealsohadaright to counselto beinformedof thespecificchargesandtheright againsself-

9 Thequestionghatform the basisfor DeanJr.’sFirst Amendmentlaim are:(a) thelocationof theexparte
meetingto removehim as Administrator;(b) why the courtdid notissuea removalorderin anactualsignedorder;
(c) why thelaw clerkrefusedto mail ordersto him; (d) why the courtquashedis subpoenao the defendants(e) why
the courtrefusedto allow him to obtainappraisal®f the Successiompropertiesf) why the court’'s personafriends
sold the successiorpropertyafter it was published;(g) why the court did not requirethe defendantgo produced
receiptsfor moneysspenton successionmattersallegedlyspenton DeanJr.’sbills; (h) the courtdeclarechim to be
racistwhile expressingympathyto thelaw firm; (i) why washeevictedfrom theestateproperty;and(j) identification
of documentpurgedby the courtandalisting of commentghe courtfoundinsulting



incriminationbefore havasheldin contempt.DeanJr. alsoallegeshatthe contemptrial should
havebeenheardby another judgéo guardagainstthe possibility ofactualbiasor theappearance
of bias.Id. atp. 19,  76.

DeanJr.,, who describedhimselfasadark-skinnedAfrican Americanmale contendghat
the judge(who is back), lawyers,law clerk (who is black), court reporter(who is black), and
financialinstitutionsdiscriminatedagainsthim due to hisaceandcolor(i.e. dark-skinnedAfrican
American). Id. atp. 20, § 77.He allegeghatthe defendants deprived him of hight to property
under theFifth and Fourteenth Amendmengndseels to havethe defendantsield liable jointly
andseverallyfor compensatorgndpunitivedamages.d., § 77-78.

g. Malicious Prosecution

DeanJr. nextallegesthatthe pdge,law clerk, his courtreporter andCortazzo conspired
to prosecute hinby forcing thelaw clerk andthe courtreporterto testify falsely againsthim in
orderto build acaseHe allegeghatthe judgeefusedo answeraBill of Particulargletailingwhy
DeanJr.wasbeing prosecuteandultimatelysanctionedor over $60,000He allegeghatthelaw
firm engagedn elderabusethat the judge routed thestatebusinesgo the judge’sfamily and
friends andrefusedo distribute hidathers estateshareuntil afterhisdeath.d. atp. 21, 1 81As
aresult DeanJr. contendshathesufferedmentalandemotionabainandsuffering.He alsoseeks
punitivedamagedgor themaliciousprosection claim.

4. Sheriff Gusman

a. Falselmprisonment

DeanJr. nextallegesthat the judge Sheriff Gusmanandother personglentified asJane
and JohnDoesviolated his Fourth,Fifth, and Fourteeth Amendmentrights under theUnited

State<ConstitutionHe allegeghata“criminal hearing, ratherthana contemphearing tookplace

10



onMay 5, 2016beforeJudgeCatesandwhich wasclosedto the publicandthemedia.He alleges
that he was not advisedof the chargesfound guilty, arrestedandincarceratedor eleven(11)
days. He allegesthat Sheriff Gusmankept himin jail beyond theslevendaysorderedby the
presidingcivil court judge. Id., § 87. However,thereis no indiation of how longor if hewas
actuallydetainedafterthe orderexpired.

b. Failure to Train, Supervise& Discipline

Dean Jr. alleges that Sheriff Gusmanis responsiblefor training, instructing, and
supervisinggmployeeshatwork for theSheriff's Office. He allegeggenerallythatSheriff Gusman
violatedhis constitutionafights becausef hisraceandbecausehe Sheriff's Office should have
beenableto recognizeandcorrectincarceratiorordersfrom Civil CourtJudgeghatwerewritten
to retaliateagainsthim. He allegesthatthe judge’s aler promotedfalseimprisonmeniandthat
“whites, light-skinned African Americans and wealthy people are not subjectedto false
imprisonment.” He allegesthat the judge, sheriff, law clerk, court reporter,and unidentified
personsactedintentionallyto causehim to befalsely arrestecandimprisoned withoutegardfor
hisrights. He seekgpunitivedamagesgainst Gusman.

5. Orleans Parish

DeanJr.generallyallegeghatheseekdo have thesheriff, judge andtheParishof Orleans
liable under Monell*® and for their supervisoryliability. He generallyallegesthat there was
misconducthatwastheresultof policies,practicesandcustomswvheretheiremployeesletained
indigentminority anddarkskinnedAfrican Americansld., § 112-16.

6. Cates,Mouton, Hendrickson, Wight Gilbert, Cortazzo,Clark Hill, Darryl M. Gilbert,

Joan Heisser, Melanie Duplechain, Ronald M. Carrere, JosephA. Bonventure and
Joel Mendler

10 Monellv. Dept.of SocialServs Of City of NewYork 436U.S.658(1978).

11



DeanJr. nextallegesthat the judge, hikaw clerk, courtreporter,the lawyersfrom New
OrleansandMichigan, his brothers,andthe president of theealty companyviolated his rights
pursuanto Title $2 U.S.C Sectiors 1985and1986for theirmonetarygainby their elderabuse as
well asracialandclassanimus.id., § 140-44 He allegesthatall of the defendantgrofited from
theliquidationandtransferof hisfather'sproperty.

7. Conversion

Deandr.nextallegethathis brothersDwight andDarryl, CortazzoMendler,Bonventure,
Baldwin HaspelandClarkHill, PLC convertedsuccessiofunds.Id., p. 45, 1160Healsoalleges
thatMelanieDuplechain, alongvith his brothersgoercedheir fatherwho wasnot functioningat
full mentalcapacityto transferhis lakefrontpropertyfor their and JudgeCates's benefit.ld. He
allegeghatJoanHeisserpPresidentf GreatDevelopmentandRealtorswasgrantedheexclusive
right to sell the propertyto her friend Melanie Duplechain, a private persola., 1161.He also
allegesthat the judgeauthorizedthe sale of anothermiece of successiorproperty undermarket
valueto a persondiriend, RonaldCarerre Managerof CTC Holdings,LLC. Id., 1163 He alleges
that his brotherDarryl committedmoney launderindpy taking their fatherto various bankand
financial institutions and telling him howto transferhis assetswhich he contendsconstitute
conversion ofsuccessiomssetsld., atp. 44, 1156-158.

He nextallegesthatthejudge,JoanHeisser(anallegedcampaigrcontributor of thgudge),
andCapitalOneaidedandabettedhe conversionHe allegesthatCapitalOne unlawfullyreleased
all of the moneyheldin thesuccessionHe allegesthat his brothersmpersonatedhim in hisrole
asadministratorof theestate.He allegesthat his brothercommittedmail fraud (Title 18 U.S.C.
8 1341)wirefraud(Title 18 U.S.C § 1343),dnkfraud(Title 18 U.S.C. § 1962), money laundering

(Title 18 U.S.C. 88 1956, 1957hterstateor foreigntransportation omorethan$5000in stolen

12



money (itle 18 U.S.C. § 2314andreceiptof stolenmoneythat hascrossedstateor national
borders Title 18 U.S.C. § 2315).

8. StatelLaw Claims

a. Cates,Gusman, and Does1-10

DeanJr. contendghatthe judge,sheriffandtheDoes1-10 shouldeheldliable to him for
negligentlydetaininghim longerthanthe orderindicated.Id., 1103-108. He contendghat the
defendantdailed to timely releasehim despite higepeatednquiries about théength of his
detentionld. He alsoseekto havethesedefendants, thiaw clerk, and courtreporterheld liable
for failing to preventtheharmhesuffered.

b. Catesand Gusman-RespondeatSuperior

Deannextallegesthatboth Judge&€atesand Sheriff Gusmanshould béeheldliable for the
“torts” committedby their agents. He does notdescribethe dleged torts that the employees
committed He suggestshat JudgeCatess liability extendgo theillegal activity thatherequired
his law clerk and courtreporterto performfor him. Again, thereis no descriptionof what they
allegedlyperformedor him. Id., § 117-120Deandr.contendshattheSheriff should béheldliable
for the payment oflamagessaresultof the conduct of hismployees.ld., § 121-24.

c. Insurance Companies

DeanJr. seeksto sue the insuranceompanief the defendantswhich he identified as
ABC Insurances Companies 1-Mho he contends would beontractuallyliable to payfor the
illegal andunconstitutionabctsof the“defendants’ Id., 1125-129.
d. Fraud
DeanJr. allegesthat his brotherscommittedinsurancefraud whentheyfiled a police

reporton behalfof their fatherfor their deceasednother'sweddingring. Id. atp. 47, 173-177.

13



Accordingto DeanJr., his brotherDwight’'s wife Julietook the weddinging from theirmother’s
safekeepingandthathis brothergexercisedundue influence oveheirfatherin orderto gethim
to file aninsuranceclaim. Id. He allegesthatthe judgeallowedthelawyersandhis brotherso
fraudulently charged $146,016.58agairst the estateas money owed to their dad for his
contributionto therenovaton of this mother’sproperty.ld., atp. 48, 1180(b).

DeanJr.allegeghatthe judgeawardechis brothers $13,00@om hisinheritancdor the
saleof a 2006 Hondaninivanthatwasin his possessionHe contendthatthe court ignored his
argumenthatthevehiclewasovervaluedandthattheestatedid notownthevehicle.ld. atp. 49,
1180¢). He allegesthat the judgeawardedhis brothers $4,000.0@r his household contents
which they allegedly disposedof. Id., 1180(d).He also allegesthat the judge awardedhis
brothersover$600for parkingticketsandfor a phonevill whichwereallegedy bothpaidfor by
the Successioffior DeanJr.’saccountld.

DeanJr. alsoallegedthat the judgeallowed his brothersto take anothervehicle out of
theestataafterwaspurchasedy theirfather, eventhoughit wasownedby theirdad.ld., 118Q).
Heallegeghathis brotherandthelaw firm usedthemoney theyortrolledto purchase aehicle
thatwasalreadyownedfrom themselvegor themselvesHe characterizeghis actionasmoney
launderingld. DeanJr. allegesthatthe judgeawardedhelaw firm andhis brothers $41,188.90
in attorney’sfeesagainst hinsoit wasableto chargeall thefeesto his account without double
billing. Id. He thereafteritemized his complaints about thelaw firms impact on the
administrationof justice (1) ex parte contacts (2) requestingrerification for fundswithdrawn
for transportatiorandhousingexpenses(3) recusalof thelawyersbecausef their relationship
with thejudge (4) hisobjectionto thefalselegal description otheproperty(5) his objectiorio

thedenialof dueprocess(6) his objectiorto thecourt'ssua spont@rderto sealtherecordand

14



hearing and(7) the judgedailure to takenoticeof anyevidenceof allegedelderabusedrom his

campaigncontributors. DeanJr. proceeddo cite to the Dred Scottopinion statingthat blacks

have norights which the white manwas boundto respect! He proceeddo cite to reversed
Supreme Coutaw asa suggestiothatthe judge“weaponized La. C.C.P. 221to criminalize

hisattempto receiveimpartialjusticeandincarceratedhim for hiscomplaintof theftby wealthy
white lawyers. He suggestshat the heirs,white people,andlight skinnedAfrican Americans
arenotsubjectto biasandanmusby thejudge.

e. Unlawful Arrest and Imprisonment

DeanJr. next contendsthat the judgeviolated his rights under the Fourthifth, and
Fourteenth Amendmentsy having himincarceratedn front of themedia. He allegesthat the
mediaandpublicwereremovedrom thehearingandthatinvestigativereporterDavid Hammer
announced hipresencandmadeattemptdo obtaintranscriptof the proceedingsde contends
thatthe udge,hisstaff, and attorneortazzounder color ofaw knowinglydeprivedhim of his
constitutionakightsbecausehe $eriff escortechim to jail beforethe nedia.

f. Right to Privacy

DeanJr. allegesthatin 2012, his brothersyhile hewasout oftown returnedto therental
house (ownedy DebraDave’s friend and rentedto his parents),sortedthrough his personal
effects,keptitemstheywanted anddiscardedther temsandinformation DeanJr. allegesthat
his lossesincluded hisglassesmoney, computer, toothbrustipthes,medicine and shoes. He
allegesthat his brothes and their lawyers conspiredto unlawfully evict him from the rental
propertyandto removehim asadministrator.He allegesthat his brother’sviolated Section 1983,

alsobutfails to providean explanation.

11 Notably, Gilbert describesimself as a darkskinnedAfrican Americanmaleandthe Judgeis alsoan
African Americanmale.
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g. Defamation

DeanJr. allegesthatthelawyers hadanincentiveto defamehim soasto ensurehattheir
client would be appointecadministrator.He alleges Heisser,the Presidentof Lake Forest
Homeownerdssociationusedinsiderinformationto ensurehat his fatherwould be moved out
of Louisianato cover upanillegality concerninghe hous@extdoorto his mothert?

DeanJr. allegesthatthe judgeembracedhe defendantslefamationdid thesamethingin
Michiganby ushgwhathappenedh Louisianald. atp. 70, 1260-265He allegeghathis brothers
contendedhat he contributedo their mother'sdeath.He allegesthat his brotheiDwight hadan
incentiveto defamehimin orderto replacehim asadministratomndmadesurethat the costsand
expense$o manageheestateverepaidbeforethe estatevasclosed.ld.

h. Legal Malpractice

Gilbertnextallegeghatthelawyershired by his brotheto represenhisfatherwasalegal
fiction becauséis fatherhadanimpairedmentalandphysicalcondition.Id. at p. 74, 1267-280.
He allegesthat the lawyers knew or should have known of hiathefs impaired mentaland
physicalcondition.Further,he contends his brothBwight brought hisdadto Michiganandhis
sisterin-law advisedRoadHomethathisfathernevereceivedreatmet for cognitiveimpairment.
Id. He allegesthat his brothers, under coundgy the lawyers took advantageof his fatherand
causedis fatherto transfermoniesheldin bankaccountdor their own personalse.He alleges
that the lawyersaidedandabettedthe transferbecauséhis fatherlackedthe capacityto contract,

could nothire, norexpresse@desireto sell his propertyld.

12 peanJr. allegesthathis mother’soncologistwhois not a party, violatedHIPAA by releasinchis
mother’streatmeninformationandhis allegederraticandirrationalbehaviorwhich “causedhis motherto be
withoutcritical healthcare.”
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i. Breach of Trust, Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Intentional Infliction of
Emotional Distress.

DeanJr.alsoallegesthat thdawyersof Baldwin HaspelnamelyHill, Cortazzo, Rouchell,
Glenn,Zimmerman,Mendlerand Bonventure preachedheir fiduciary duties DeanJr. alleges
thatthelawyersowedhisfatherandthe otherheirsafiduciary dutyby virtue of the attorneyelient
relationshipanda duty noto enrichoneheirto thedetrimentof the othersld. atp. 76, §281-288.
He contendghat the lawyersbreachedheir fiduciary duty to him and his father.ld. DeanJr.
allegesthat the transactionssales and financial deductionsfor expensesand the refusal to
withdraw hisfathers shareof thesuccessiomntil after hisdeathwasfor the benefit of his brother
Dwight, thelawyers andthe judge.ld. He thereafterdetailedalist of thewaysin which Dwight
breachedhefiduciary duty 3

. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

Dean Jr. generally allegesthat all of the defendantacted intentionally when they
unlawfully removedhim asadministratordefraudedhis father,sanctionechim, andincarcerated
him for over 12days.Id. at p. 79-80, 1296-29He allegesthat “their” extremeand outrageous

conductcausechim severeemotionaldistressandanxiety.ld.

railedor refusedto renderatrueinventory,conductedanunsuperviseéndunwitnessegilferage,hid the
insuranceclaim andproceedgor his mom’sring, failed to maintainpropertyinsurancevhich resultedn depreciation
of the property,and negligencecausedby Road Home violations. He also allegedthat Dwight failed to provide
documentatiorfior $10,000n costs,chargedb13,000from hisinheiitancefor avan,deductecver$150,000rom his
dad’'sestatefor repairspaidin a grantto RoadHome, violated conditionsof the Successiotbond. He alsoalleged
that Dwight failed to keepthe propertiesrented failed to accountfor rentalincome,failed to sell property,failed to
providedocumentatiorior expensesfailed to submitaccuratdénformationregardingvaluationof his mom’s stocks,
bonds,annuitiesandinsurancepolicies,failed to pursuea claim the decedenhadfor the formaldehyden the FEMA
trailer contributingto his deceasedhotherdung cancer.He furtherallegeghatDwight threatenedhis momanddad’s
physiciansfor revealingtheir true medicaltreatmentsfailed to receive$7500grantRoadHomefor the Winchester
propertyto anchorthe foundation,andfailed to complete$15,0000f work scheduledrom RoadHomeon the punch
list for the Contiproperty.

17



k. Bank Negligence

GilbertallegeghatCapitalOne,theChicagoTeacherdJnion,andHancockHoldingswere
negligentby allowing his brotherdo emptythe accounts belongirtg hisfather. He allegesthat
HancockHoldingallowedhis brotherso emptyandclosetheirmothers safedeposit box.Healso
allegesthat Capitol Oneallowed Dwight to empy the savingsaccounts and moneyarketfund
of over $100,000 through impersonation of pesintiff.

9. Louisiana SupremeCourt

Gilbertallegesaclaim against the Louisiana Supreme Court contenttiagRuleXXIIl,
Section23 is unconstitutionabndviolateshis First Amendmentrights. Id., 1184. He alleges
thatheneed awaiverfrom the ourtto include arecordof thedisciplinaryactionin hisappeal
whichwasdenied.ld. He allegesthatasaresult,the Louisiana Supreme Court deprived him of
the opportunityto revealall of the fctsof the caseand the judge’s allegedmotivesfor his
retaliatoryactionstowardhim to the LouisiandourthCircuit Court ofAppealdepriving him of
his right of speechandadvocacyld. He thereafterestatesall of theallegationsagainstudge
Catesthat he wantedto makeknownto the Circuit Courtandthe fact that hefiled ajudiciary
complaintagainstthe judge.

10. RICO Violations

Next, DeanJr. allegeshatthe judgeandlawyersviolatedthecriminal RICO statuteand
alsothe whistleblowerprovisionbecausehe judge,n concertwith the lawyers,his brothers,
and the realtor, operatedhis division of courtas a corrupt “aterprisé in the form of an
“associatiorin-fact” which wasthe result of the judge’smannerof improperly administering
justice Id., 1184.He allegesthatthe mosflagrantactwasthe judge’sefusalto allow the state

of Louisianato collect taxesfrom his friends (Harvey), by procuringallegedly pay-for-play

18



sdtlementsfrom his contributors (Hooksandby rigging judicial electionsin local district and
appellatecourtsfor wealthyandinfluential candidategfWoodsandJohnson), none of whoare
partiesto this lawsuit. 1d.

He allegesthatthe judgehadexparte communicationsvith thelawyers and conspired
to defraudhis dad of money dueto his diminishedcapacity.ld. He pointsto six judiciary
complaintsthat hefiled, complaintsto themediaoutlets lettersof complaintto the Chief Judge
of theCivil District Court,andabarcomplaintagainsthelawyeranda court appointed attorney.

He allegesthat hewasinjuredasaresultof the judge’sactionsbecause¢he succession
asset®f both his monmanddadweredepléedandconvertedoy the judge’sfriends andthatthe
banks-namelyCapital One, HancockHoldings and Citibank-failed to protectthe fundsand
deposits higarentshad entrustedto them. He allegesthat the RICO violation constitutesa
deprivation of higights pursuanto Title 42 U.S.C Section1983.

11.Due Processviolations

a. By the Court and City of New Orleans

Gilbertnextcontends that th€ivil District Courtin OrleansParishunder thdeadership
of Chief JudgeCatesthe Louisiana Supreme CouahdtheMayor of the City of New Orleans
Mitch Landrieuhaveacustom policy, andpradice of discriminatingagainsiminority, indigent,
and/ordark-skinnedcitizenschargedwith criminal contemptin statecourt.Id. at p. 60, 1210.
He allegesgenerallythat poor defendantshargedwith constructivecriminal contemptare not
presumednnocent,offered counsel given a publictrial, or counseledn their rights. He also
allegeshatthe defendant notdeemedyuilty beyond aeasonabl&oubt.

He allegesthat the Louisiana Supreme Codailed to properlytrain the judges of the

Civil District Courtfor the Parishof Orleans which constitutesa municipal policy or custom
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thatresultsin deliberatendifferenceto therights of indigentminoritiesor partiesincluding but
notlimited to DeanJr.

b. Bythe Law Clerk

Gilbert also allegesthat Mouton, the Judge’saw clerk, conspiredwith the judge, his
brotherDwight, andthe lawyersto hold exparte hearingsld. atp. 61,9214218. He alleges
that shesignedjudgmentsas well as organizedand facilitated his removal as administrator
through the duty judgeithout a contradictory hearintyl. He furtherallegesthat sheremoved
his motiondrom thecourt’sdocket, purged thigle of hisletterscritiquing herconductrefused
to memorializeany order dismissingthe lawyers’ motionsand refusedto sendcertain court
ordersto him. He allegesthat her conductviolated Tile 42 U.S.C.Section1983andis under
color of statelaw. Id.

c. By the Judge’sCourt Reporter, Laurie Hendrickson

Dean Jr. allegesthat Ms. Hendricksonviolated his constitutionakight to due process
becausesheallegedy conspiredvith the judgeo edit the courtranscriptdecauséhetranscripts
hadno recordof orderssignedduring ex-parte hearingsandthetranscriptscontaned deletions
of hisargumentandthe ourt's commentarytowardhim. Id. at p. 62, 1219He allegesthatin
Septembeiof 2012 the attorneynadvertentlyadmittedto redirectingand openingplaintiff's
mail, whichwasstrickenfrom therecord. He allegeghatthe courteporerembellisheakvidence
thatwouldassistthe judgean incarceratindhim for twelvedays.He seekgo haveherheldliable
underTitle 42 U.S.CSection1983.

d. By the Judge for Failing to DiscloseExculpatory Evidence

DeanJr. allegesthat the judgemanufacturecevidenceand determinedn a conclusory

fashionthatDeanJr. violatedthe ordersof thecourt. He contendghat the hearingwas not fair
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sinceit wasacriminal proceedingentitling himto receiveexaulpatory evidencéhatwasrelevant
to hisincarceration. He allegesthat the court deniedmultiple requestdor information during
thehearing.He contendghat hisincarceratiorwasretaliatoryandintendedo chill hisrightsto
appellatereview. He dlegesthatthe judge’s actiongerebaseduponcolorism.

C. Oppositions

DefendantDwight Gilbert opposes the proposeaimendedcomplaint as being futile.
Dwight contendghat he was not servedin the case which shouldbe dismissedor insuficient
proces®fserviceR. Doc.45. Dwight alsocontendshatthe proposedmendeaomplaint Counts
15, 16, 18, 27, 28, 3and33 arefutile becauseheyfail to statea claim for which relief maybe
grantedld. Dwightargueghatnone of thallegationsconcerning hinasadministratoof mother’s
estatan Louisianacreatea viablecauseof actionfor theplaintiff. Id.

TheCity of NewOrleansopposes thmotionbecausg(1) it is untimelyandthereforefutile
becauseheCity of New Orleanshasno authority over thpidiciary, and(2) theamendmenivould
prejudice thecity becausehe periodfor filing an amendedcomplaintexpired severalmonths
earlier.R. Doc. 46.

Sheriff Marlin Gusmaropposes thenotion noting thecourt’s statementhatno additional
amendedleadingscould befiled. R. Doc. 43. Gusmanarguesthatit is untimely and DeanJr.
presentsio explanatiorfor thelatenesf his submission.

The Baldwin, Haspel,Burke & Mayer firm, and its lawyers opposethe filing of the
amendedomplaint. Theyalsocontenahat (1) thefiling is untimelyandthereforedilatory; and
(2) theclaimsagainsthemarepre-empted.

JudgeCateshis law clerk, andcourtreportalsooppose théling themotionto amendR.

Doc. 16. The judgeand his staff contendthat they are entitledto absoluteammunity, the claims

21



filed by DeanJr. areprescribedanduntimelyfor violating the undersignésiorderthatrequired
the subjectamendedcomplaintto befiled notlater November 27, 2018d.

D. Supplementalor SecondAmended Complaint

Dean Jr., during the pendencyf the original requestto amend filed a proposed
supplemental ocsecondamendeatomplairt to addadditionalallegationsagainst Judg€ates.He
complainsthaton Februaryl4, 2018, hdiled a motion seekingtherecusalof the judgeandthat
afterhefiled awrit applicationin thecircuit courtonMarch9, 2018 thejudgeultimatelyrecused
himselfonMarch 12, 2018 The statedreasorfor hisrecusalWwerethe continuedoersonahttacks
againsthim, hisfamily, andstaff membersDeanJr. disputeghathepersonallyattackedhe judge
andthatthere werenotanywitnesseso thealleged personaéttacks.Deandr.thereaftesummarily
re-allegedthe conspiratoriahllegationsagainstthe judge. He does nothowever stateany new
claims.

[l Standard of Review

FederalRule ofCivil Procedurd5(a)governs theamendmenbf pleadingseforetrial.
Rule 15(ajllows apartyto amendts pleadings “onlywith the otheparty’swritten consent or
thecourt’'sleave.”Fed.R. Civ. P.15(a)(2). Moreover,the Ruleurgesthatthe Court “should
freely give leavewhenjusticesorequires.”ld. In takingthisliberal approach, the Rulgeject[s]
the approaclkhatpleadingis agameof skill in which onemisstepby counseimaybe decisiveto
the outcomendaccepthe principlethatthe purpose gbleadingis to facilitate a propeidecision
on themerits.” Conleyv. Gibson 355U.S.41, 48 (1957).

“Rule 15(a)requiresatrial court‘to grantleaveto amendfreely,” andthe language dhis
rule ‘evincesabiasin favor of grantingleaveto amend.””Jonesv. Robinson PropGrp., 427F.3d

987, 994(5th Cir. 2005) (internal quotationsmarksomitted) (quotingLyn-Lea Travel Corp. v.
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Am. Airlines, 283 F.3d 282, 28¢th Cir. 2002)). Whendenyinga motionto amend,the court
must have dsubstantialreason,” considering sudactorsas“undue delay,badfaith or dilatory
motive on thepartof the movantrepeatedailuresto curedeficienciedy amendments previously
allowed, undue prejudiceo the opposingparty . . . and futility of the amendment."Marucci
Sports,LLC v. Nat'l CollegiateAthleticAssn, 751 F.3d 368, 37&th Cir. 2014) (quotinglones
427 F.3dat 994).

[l. Analysis

A. Timelinessof Submission

As an initial matter,DeanJr. hasviolated the undersigned filing deadline.The Court
notesthat he was originally grantedpermissiorto file hisamended:omplaintby Novemberl2,
2017.R. Doc. 14. An extensiorwasgranteduntil November 27, 2017, but tiseibjectproposed
amendedcomplaintwas not filed until February 12, 2018, sontleree monthsafter the Court’s
deadline. The Court noteghathe did nofile a pleading explaining thdelay.

The Court onlyin this limited circumstancewill permit the untimelyfiling becausehe
proposedamendedcomplaintis an eightytwo (82) page documentGiven the length of the
proposecamendeatomplaint,the Courtwill excuseonly this untimelyfiling. However,Plaintiff
is cautionedthat the samerulesthat apdy to attorneysappliesto him asa pro selitigant. He
thereforewill beheldaccaintablefor complyingwith the Court’s deadlines.

B. Futility

1. Baldwin HaspelFirm and L awyers and the Clark Hill Firm and Lawyers

a. The Baldwin HaspelFirm andits Lawyers

Dean Jr. contendsthat the Baldwin Haspel lawyers, Cortazzo, Rocuhell, Mendler,

ZimmermanandGlenn, individuallyard in their official capacitieghereinaftereferredto asthe
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“Baldwin Layers”)failed to tell the judgethat estatefundsweretransferredor convertedthat he
wasenjoined without dearing andthat the lawyerscovertly took the pleadingo the judgeand
secureda temporaryestrainingorder. He complainghatthelaw firm laterhadhim permanently
removedasadministratoandanorderof usufructwasissuedo hisfather. He does notllegethat
thelawyerswereretainedo represenhisinterest.

“Peremptionis a period oftime fixed by law for the existenceof a right. The right is
extinguished upon thexpirationof theperemptiveperiad. Whenthe peremptive periodasrun,
the causeof actionitself is extinguished unlegsmely exercised.'/Randov. Ancolnsulations, Inc.,
16 So. 3d 1065, 1082a. 2009)(citing La. Civ. Codeart. 3458) (internatitations omitted).

LouisianaRevisedStatute9:5605 governgegal malpracticeandstateghatan "actionfor
damages . . whetherbasedupontort, or breachof contract,or otherwise,arising out of an
engagemenb providelegalservices'is subjectto a peremption period of oryearfrom thedate
of the"allegedact, omission, omeglect"or oneyearfrom the dateon which such"allegedact,
omission, oneglecis discoveredr should havbeendiscovered.La.R.S. 9:560FA). Moreover,
legal malpracticeactions & alsosubjectto a peremption period dhreeyearsfrom the dateof
theallegedact,omission, oneglectld. As the Louisiand hird Circuit Courtof Appealexplained
in Atlaslron andMetal Co.v. Ashy 918 So. 2d 1205, 1209-1Da. App. 3d 01/04/06):

Thereare two ways to startthe peremptiorclock running undeL,a. R.S. 9:5605The

peremption perioavill beginto run oneyearfrom thedatewhenaclient knew or should

have known about thact, omission, omegligenceon thepart of his orher attorneythat
indicatesthat the client may be avictim of anactof malpracticeSeeLa. R.S.9:5605(A).

Additionally, theperemptionclock will startrunning on thedateof thead, omission, or
negligencehat allegedlyconstitutesmalpracticeandwill toll threeyearsfrom thatdate

regardles®f whetheraclientdiscovered, knew, or should have known about the attorney's

allegedmalpractice.
The Louisiana Supreme Coumasexplainedthat, pursuanto La. R.S. 9:5605, aauseof

actionfor legalmalpracticecanperemptevenif theclient neverdiscoverghatcauseof action,or
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the facts neverripeninto a justiciablecase.Reederv. North, 701 So.2d 1291, 129Fa. 1997)
("[T]hereis no doubtthat the [Louisiana] Legislatureintendedthat three yearsafter the 'act,
omission, omeglect,'the causeof actionis extinguishedregardlesof whenthe negligences
discoveredand regardles®f whether analpracticeactionmaybe broughtwithin thatthreeyear
period.")"If nodamagesreincurredwithin threeyearsof the act, omission, omegligencethe
causeof actionandright of actionperemptgegardless.Atlas 918 So.2dt 1213(citing Reeder,
701 S0.2cht 1297).

The ads aboutwhich DeanJr. complaingrelatingto the Baldwin lawyersis that they did
not tell the judge in April of 2012, when they were seekingto have Dean Jr. removedas
administratorthattheyhadalreadytransferrecandconvertedestatefunds. He allegesthatat the
time the lawyersimproperlytook the removalpapersto JudgeCatesor his law clerk andgot a
temporaryrestrainingordersigned. He impliesthatthelawyersneverservedhim ornotified him
aboutany subsequent hearirgecausdne hadbeenremovedpermanenthandthat after securing
the Judgement dtossessionyhichoccurredonOctoberl2, 2015, theglaimedmoneyghatwere
not sharedwith him.

He does notllegethatthesdawyerswereretainedo represenhim individually. He does
acknowledgehattheywerehiredto representhesuccessiomandhisfathers interest. Basedupon
the allegationssetforth by DeanJr, it is clearthatthe allegedactsor omissionsdy the Baldwin
lawyersarepreemptedistheright to assersuchaclaim arisingoutof theadministrativeremoval
proceedingextinguishedn April of 2015. Further, thedegreeto which he could havassertec
claim arisingout of thepossessionf claimedunsharedmonies thatclaim prescribedn October

2016, oneyearfrom the datethe allegedtaking occurredbecauseherecordis clearthathe was
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awareof the takingat thetime. As a result, the claim againstBaldwin Haspeland the Baldwin
lawyersis futile. Therequesto amendo asserthe proposedlaimsagainsthemis denied

b. Clark Hill, P.L.C. andthe Clark Hill Lawyers

DeanJr. alsosuedthe Michigan law firm, Clark Hill, P.L.C.and JosephBoventure,in
theirindividualandofficial capacity. He allegeshatthefirm andJoseph Boventumraftedtrusts
andpowers of attornewhich disinheritedDeanJr. and his offspring. He allegesthat the Clark
lawyersgavehis brotheDwight unfetteredandunacmuntableaccesgo their father'sassets.

DeanJr. attachedasan exhibit hisfather'sLast Will and TestamentArticle Four of the
Will clearly indicatesthat he was disinheritedby his father.R. Doc. 33-2, pp. 9-13.The will
expresslystatesthat “my son, Dean Edward Gilbert will be deemedto have predeceasede
leavingnodescendantsurviving.” Id. Thewill wasexecuteconJanuary31, 2013.

Healsoseekdo suetheClarkHill lawyersbecause¢heydrafteda durablgpowerof attorney
for his father,which gavethe power of attorneto his brotherDwight and only uponDwight's
deathto hiswife, JuliaGilbert. ThePowerof AttorneywassignedonJanuary8, 2013y hisfather
andwitnessedy aClark Hill lawyer.R. Doc. 33-2, p.17.

Like the claim againstthe Baldwin lawyers,the claim againstthe Clark Hill lawyersis
preemptedvith respecto thewill. The claim ceasedo existonJanuary31, 2016. Additionally,
theclaim againsttheClark Hill lawyerswith respecto the power of @iorneyis pelemptedandno
longer existsas of January8, 2013,threeyearsafter DeanJr. knew about thexistenceof the
power of attorneyTherefore the propose@dmendedomplaintseekng to assertclaimsagainst

Clark Hill andtheClark Hill lawyersis denied.
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2. JudgeCates,Michelle Mouton, and Laurie Hendrickson

a. JudgeCates, |V

Dean Jr. assertsa seriesof allegationsagainstthe judgeassignedto preside over the
successiomproceedingsn his individualandofficial capacity. He seekgo asseria 81983claim.
In summary,hefirst allegesthat the judge had a conflict of interestbecausene presidedover a
casewherelawyersappearedeforehim andwho had alsomadecontributionsto his campaign
fund. Second, hallegeghatthe judge improperlgealedhe proceedingndcaserecordandthen
unsealedt. Third, heallegeghatthejudgeviolated§ 1983whenhetwice convictedhim ofdirect
andcircumstantiatcontempt of court.

He challengesessentiallyevery judicial act that the judgeengaged. In addition to
challengingheactionof the judge, halsocontendshathewasdiscriminatedagainstby thejudge
becauséheis alighter-skinnedblack person DeanJr. seeksatemporaryrestrainingorderand a
preliminaryinjunction preventing Judg€éatesfrom exercisingjurisdiction over the nowclosed
caseinvolving the Successiof BernadettgsainesGilbert.

He contendghat the judge and his staff violated his First Amendment rights henthey
refused to authorize the production of documentsand information post his removal as
administrator.He broadly, withoutany factual basis allegesthat the judge conspiredith the
lawyersto violate his free speecrandwhich presumablharisesout of the temporargealingof the
recordandproceeding.Although hewasdisinheritedby his father, heallegesthat somehow the
judgeandhis staff soughtto deprive him of‘his” right to property.

Section1983providesthatany person who, under color sfatelaw, deprivesanother of
“any rights, privileges or immunitiessecuredoy the Constitutionandlaws shall be liable to the

party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other propeproceedingfor redress....”
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Harringtonv. Harris, 118 F.3d 359, 3655th Cir. 1997)(citing 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Section1983
does notcreateany substantiverights, however;it simply provides aremedyfor the rights
designatedherein.Id. “Thus, an underlying constitutional agtatutoryviolation is a predicaé to
liability underg§ 1983” Id. (citationomitted).

However it is well establishedhatjudgesenjoy absolutgudicial immunity from lawsuits
thatcannotbe overcomeby allegationsof badfaith or malice.Stumpv. Sparkman435U.S. 349,
355-56 (1978)Judicialimmunity is clearly applicablein casessuchasthe instant one, brought
pursuanto 42 U.S.C. § 1983eeSparkman435U.S.at 356 Piersonv. Ray,386U.S.547, 554-
55 (1967) The Supreme Coutthasrecognize only two instancesn which judicial immunity is
inapplicableFirst, ajudgeis notimmunefrom liability for nonjudicial actions,i.e. actionsnot
takenin the judge'sjudicial capacity.Second, gudgeis notimmunefor actions throughudicial
in nature,takenin the completeabsenceof all jurisdictions” Mirelesv. Waco,502U.S. 9, 11
(1991)(internalcitationsomitted)

Regardinghefirst exceptionthe Supreme Counasnoted:

Therelevantcasesilemonstrat¢hat thefactorsdeterminingwhetheranactby a judges a

“judicial” onerelateto the nature of thactitself, i.e., whetherit is a function normally

performedby a judge, ando the expectation®f the parties,i.e. whethertheydealtwith

the judgen hisjudicial capacity.Sparkman435U.S.at 362.

In thepast,judicial officersdid notenjoyabsolutémmunity from suitsseekinginjunctive
relief. Relief of that naturewasavailableunderSection1983againststatecourtjudgesactingin
their judicial capacity Pulliam v. Allen, 466 U.S. 522, 541-42 (1984}However, the Federal
Courts ImprovemenAct of 1996(“FCIA”) amendedsection1983to providethat“in anyaction
brought against audicial officer for an act or omissiontakenin suchofficer'sjudicial capacity,

injunctiverelief shallnot begrantedunless aleclaratorydecreewasviolatedor declaratoryrelief

is unavailable.”42 U.S.C. § 19835eeMachettav. Moren, 726F. App’x 219, 22(Q(5th Cir. 2018).
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DeanJr.’sallegationsagainst Judg€atesariseout of decisionsadeduringthe succession
proceedingwhich wasclearly within the judge’gurisdiction. For example he complains about
the judge’denialof hisrequestor abill of particularsthe findingof contempt ortwo occasions,
thedecisionto remove himasadministratorthedecisionto denyhis requestor copiesof orders,
the decisionto closethe proceedingor the contemphearing,the decisiorto sealan unsealthe
record andthedecisionto executea judgment of possessioPeanJr.alsochallengeshejudge’s
decisionto appointexpertsto handle thesale of successiorproperty.The doctrine of absolute
judicial immunity barsDeanJr.’s suitagainstludgeCatesn his official capacity.

Although he does natet forth any claims againstJudgeCateswherein he challenged
conduct outside of histatusas judge, he didhonethelessue himin his individual capacity.
However theseclaimsareprescribed.

Becausel2 U.S.C. § 1988ontains netatuteof limitations federalcourts looko the nost
analogoustatestatuteof limitationshadtheactionbeenbroughtin statecourt. Wilsonv. Garcia,
471 U.S. 261 (1985) In Louisiana,delictual actionsare subjectto a prescriptive period of one
year LSA-C.C. Art. 3492 Elzyv. Roberson868 F.2d 793, 7946th Cir.1989) The prescriptive
period begingo runfrom the moment thelaintiff knows orhasreasorto know of the injurythat
formsthebasisof hiscomplaint.Heltonv. Clements832 F.2d 332, 3385 (5th Cir.1987%.

Accordingto theplaintiff's complaint, the judge removed hasadministratoin April of
2012. DeanJr. alsoallegesthaton May 28, 2012, the judge improperly issaiedex parteOrder
of PossessionAdditionally, heallegesthat the judgeissuea final judgment ofpossessioron
Octoberl2, 2015andallegedlyviolated his rights by closingthe contemptproceedingvhich he
characterizedsa criminal trial to themedia. The exhibitattachment$o the complaint showhat

hewasheldin contempiandorderedincarceratedn May 5, 2016. At thelatest,the prescriptive
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period would haveun by May 5, 2017. DeanJr.filed thesubjectiawsuitonMay 8, 2017, on the
368" day. PrescriptioranonMay 5, 2017 As aresult,the claimsagainst Judg€atesarefutile
andthereforethe proposedmendmenis denied

Additionally, DeanJr. alsoseekgo enjoin the judgdrom retaliatingaganst him because
the nowclosedsuccessiomproceeding of his mothes still allottedto the judge. However,the
FederalCourts Improvemeract of 1996(“FCIA”) amendedection1983to providethat“in any
action broughtagainsta judicial officer for an act or omissiontakenin such officer's judicial
capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless adeclaratorydecee was violated or
declaratoryrelief is unavailable.”42 U.S.C 8§ 1983.

The FCIA therefore statutorily overruled Pulliam v. Allen's holding regarding the
availability of injunctiverelief againstastatejudgein hisofficial capacity.Guerinv. Higgins,No.
00-0244, 200IVL 363486.at*1 (2d Cir. 2001) (unpublishedolletv. Justicesof the TrialCt.
of Mass, 83 F. Supp. 2d 204, 21(D. Mass.2000);seealsoBolin v. Story,225 F.3d 1234, 1242
(12th Cir. 2000) (the 1996 amendmento Section1983 wouldlimit the relief availablefrom a
judgeto declaratoryrelief). Injunctiverelief is notavailableto DeanJr.in this Section1983action
againstludgeCatesTesmewn. Granholm,114F. Supp. 2d 603, 61¢.D. Mich. 2000);Nollet, 83
F.Supp.2dat 210. Therefore Dean Jr.’s proposedamendmentseekingto asserta claim for
injunctivereliefis denied

b. Michelle Mouton

DeanJr. alsoseds to sue the judge’taw clerk individually andin her official capacity.
Dean Jr. allegesthat the judge’s law clerk or the judgesignedthe order removing hinas
administratorof the successiohle allegeghatJudgeChasecoordinatedvith Moutonwho served

asasignatoryandissueda Ruleto ShowCau® on agpetitionfor possession.
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He alsoseeksto sue hetbecausesherefusedto notify him of certainunidentified court
orders.He allegesthat after he complainedo the judge’daw clerk about not sending hiopies
of significant orders,the judgeissuedan ex parte and sua sponterotective order against him
presumably forbiddindpim from contactingher. DeanJr. alleges that during theproceedinghe
hadmanyoral andwritten questionghatweresentto the judge’daw clerk but that his questions
wereignored.

Although hedoesnotallegeanyspecificconduct by Mouton, hallegeshatshe the judge,
andcourt reportedeniedhim a “publictrial” and“accesgo thecourtfile”. R. Doc. 33-1, p. 19.
He allegesthat Mouton was usedby the judge when shetestified falsely during the contempt
proceeding. He allegesthat the law clerk unlawfully detainedhim andfalsdy imprisored him
when shedraftedthe “strategicallymisleadingincarceratiororder”. Id. at p. 22.He allegesthat
shefailed to intervenewhenthejudgeviolated his constitutionatights andwhich causechim to
sufferpainandinjury. Id. atp. 26.He alsoallegesthat Mouton alongwith the others conspirdd
violate hisrightsby defrauding higatheranddenying him due processd. at. p. 31.

However,a“judge’slaw clerk, whenassistinghe judgen carryingout theformer'sjudicial
functions,is likewiseentitledto absolutemmunity.” Mitchell v. McBryde,944 F.2d 229, 23(bth
Cir. 199]). Here,thereis no questiorthat Mouton was assistingthe judgein carrying out his
judicial functions.In fact, plaintiff allegesthat Mouton impermissiblyusurped theole of the
judge. He alsoallegeghatthelaw clerk wasmanipulatedy thejudgewhen shetestifiedandalso
failedto interveneonceDeandr.washeldin contempt. Undethesecircumstancedyloutonenjoys
absoluteammunity from claimsagainstherin herofficial capacity

The individualliability claims againstMoutonarealsoprescribed. Accordingto a brief

filed by DeanJr, theactualcontemphearinggook placeon April 8, 2016andApril 29, 2016. R.
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Doc.41-3, p. 6TheallegationsagainstMoutonclearlybegarin April 2012andwouldhaveended
either on April 8, 20160r April 29, 2016at thelatest,the dateof thesecondcontempthearingif

shetestifiedatthathearing. The originallawsuitwasfiled onMay 5, 2017or on the 372 daguch
that the claim against Moutons time-barred. The deadlindor filing the complaint againster
wasonApril 29, 2017. As aresult,theclaimsagainst Moutomrefutile and theequesto amend
to file the proposedmendedcomplaintis denied

c. Laurie Hendrickson

Laurie Hendrickson, the coureporterfor Judge Cates wasalsosuedby DeanJr. in her
individual and official capacity.He allegesthat Hendrickson like Mouton refusedto answer
guestions he submitte®. Doc. 33-1, p. 15He allegesthat Hendricksoneditedtranscriptsand
refusedto produce othetranscriptsfor him andthe media.ld. at. p. 16.He further allegesthat
Hendricksordiscriminatedagainsthim by denyinghim a publictrial andaccesdgo his courffile.

He does notllegehow Hendricksorfdenied him a publictrial,” nor doeshe allege her
rolein the denial ofaccesdo his courffile,” whichis typically in thecustodyof theclerk of court.
Id. atp. 19.He alsoallegeghat Hendricksonegitheralone ofin concertinstigatedhis prosecution
by falsely testifying against himand by providing misleading information. Id. at. p. 20.
Additionally, heallegesthatHendricksoralongwith the judge, Beriff, andlaw clerk intentionally
causedhim to befalselyimprisonedandarrestedHe alsoincludes Hendricksom the group of
defendantsvho conspiredo defraudhis fatherandalsoviolate DeanJr.’s dueprocessights by
liquidatingandtransferringhisfather’'sproperty.ld. atp. 32.

Hendrickson contendblatsheis entitledto abluteimmunity for heractionswhichwere
theresultof the directionof thejudge.Hendricksoralsoallegesthat the claimsasserteggainst

herin herindividual capacityareprescribed.
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It is well establishedhattheEleventhAmendment onlyparsrecoveryagainsanemployee
who s suedin herofficial capacity;it does noprotectan employedrom personaliability if she
is suedin her“individual” or “personal’capacity,sincethestatetreasuryis notatrisk. SeeFarid
v. Smith,850 F.2d 917, 921-2d Cir.1988) seealsoEngv. Coughlin,858 F.2d 889, 89¢2d
Cir.1988)( “It is only whenthestateofficial is suedandheldliable in his individualcapacitythat
the suitmaylie.”) (citing Papasarv. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 278 & n. 11 (1986))herefore,the
official capacityclaimsagainstHendricksorarebarred.

The individual capacity claims against Hendricksonlike Mouton, are prescribed.
Accordingto DeanJr.’s proposed complairtter conductthat was problematic for him was: (1)
refusalto answe his questions(2) editing transcriptsandrefusingto producethen (3) refusing
him accesdo a publictrial andthe courtrecord and(4) failing to intervengo protect higightsof
free speechandentitlementto a publichearing.He alsoallegesthat Hendricksorfalselytestified
whichresultedn hisarrest. However all of theseallegedactionsoccurredduring thesuccession
proceedingThefinal judgment ofpossessiomvasissuedon Octoberl2, 2015. Additioally, the
contempt ordewasissuedon May 5, 2016andthe latesthearingtook placeon April 29, 2016.
As aresult,theclaimagainstHendrickson would havexpiredonApril 29, 2017andthe complaint
in thiscasewasnotfiled until May 5, 2017 morethanoneyearafterthelastactthatcould possibly
giveriseto aclaimagainstHendricksonAs aresult,theclaimsagainstHendricksorarefutile and
therequesto file anamendedcomplaintis denied.

3. Sheriff Marlin Gusman

DeanJr. alsosuedSheriff Marlin Gusmanin his individualandofficial capacitiedor (1)
detaining him beyond the order wicarceration (2) for failing to properlytrain, instructand

superviseemployeeshatwork for the Sheriff’'s Office; and(3) for failing to intercedebecausdne
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should havéeenableto recognizeandcorrectincarceratiorordersfrom Civil Court Judgewhich
werewritten to retaliateagainsthim. He allegesthatthe judge sheriff, law clerk, courtreporer
and unidentified personactedintentionallyto causehim to be falsely arrestedand imprisoned
without regardfor his rights. He seekgpunitivedamagesgainstGusman.

Officials in their individual orofficial capacitiescannot beneldliable for a subordinate's
actionsvia 8 1983 on the basisof respondeasuperior.Valle v. City of Houston613 F.3d 536,
541 (5th Cir. 2010);Estateof Davisexrel. McCullyv. City of North RichlandHills, 406 F.3d 375,
381(5th Cir. 2005).Sostronglyhavethe courts soughid avoidthis possibilitythatthey require a
showing ofdeliberateindifferenceattributableto the official or municipality beforeallowing a
claimto proceedBd. of Cnty.Comm'rsof Bryan Countyv. Brown,520U.S.397, 407 (1997)The
institution of this standardthen explicitly foreclosesthe ability to restmerelyon a showing of
negligencgor evengrossnegligence)Estateof Davis, 406 F.3dat 375 (5th Cir. 2015).Putting
this standardnto the sequenceaecessaryor a plaintiff to properlypleadhis claim and createa
triableissueof fact, the questionthenis if theofficial undertook or adopted a policy or custfm
which he canbesaidto bedeliberatelyindifferentto theright of the plaintiff to befree from the
use ofextendeddetentionpasta court orderand that specific policy decisionwas the “moving
forceof” the constitutional injuryBrownv. Bryan County,OK, 219 F.3d 450, 45{th Cir.2000).

Here,DeanJr. allegesthatthe order ofncarceratiorwasissuedonMay 5, 2016suchthat
he should have leareleaseddnMay 16, 2016R. Doc. 33-2, p. 1instead heallegeshathewas
incarceratedor twelve days.R. Doc. 33-1, 1 222. SomehovpeanJr. blamesthe courtfor his
continued detentiohy the Sheriff. Id. He alsosuggestthathisdetention wasbecauséeis adark
skinnedAfrican American.ld., 1113.The claim againstthe sheriff is frivolous asthe allegations

in the 82pagecomplaint do notemotelysuggesthat he wasawarethat DeanJr. wasdetained
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beyondMay 16, 2016 As statedby the caselaw, thesheriff cannot béneldliable via respondeat
superior becauseof the conduct of his subordinate®s a result, the individualand official
capacityclaimsallegingthesheriff’'s responsibilityfor the actions of his subordinat@®frivol ous
suchthatthe proposed amendmeetjuesis denied

DeandJr. alsosuggestshatthefailed to train hisdeputieson howto interpretcourtorders.
Theorderwhich the Sheriff allegedlyfailedto train his deputies on how interpretwasissuedon
May 5, 2016. Consideringthat the claim againstthe Sheriff is also a Section1983 claim, the
limitations period of oneyearexpiredon Friday, May 5, 2017, the ongeardatefrom whenthe
order would havéeeninterpretedoy theSheriff's deputiesDeanJdr. did notfile theclaim against
thesheriff until Monday,May 8, 2018. ThereforeDeanJr.’srequesto amendo asserthe above
claims againstSheriff Marlin Gusmans denied

4. Dwight and Darryl Gilbert

a. Elder Abuse

DeanJr. alsosuedhis brotherdDwight and Darryl. He allegesthat his brotherDwight
persuadetheir fatherDeanGilbert Sr.,whowasexperiencingognitivedecline thatDeanJr. had
killed his motherand conspiredwith otherrelativesto kill their father. He alsoallegesDwight
retainedthe Clark Hill P.L.C.firm to prepareapowerof attorneyfor hisfatherwhich grantedthe
powerto handle hisaffairsto his brotheiDwight andin the eventof hisdeath Dwight’s wife Julia
Gilbert. R. Doc. 33-1. Dwight contendsthat none of theallegationsconcerninghim as
administratorof mother’'sestatan Louisianacreatea viablecauseof actionfor DeanGilbert, the
plaintiff.

DeanJr.allegeghathis brothes, Dwight andDarryl, thelawyers andthefirmstheyhired

convertedsuccessioffunds.ld. atp. 45, 1160He contendshathis brother€ommittedelderabuse
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againsttheir father. He allegesthat his brotherDarryl hadtensof thousands of dollars of loans
from their fatherfor arealestatgpurchasehis weddingandhistreatmentor infertility forgiven.
Id. atp. 35.He allegesthatboth of hisbrother'ssoughtto have hinremovedasadministrator.

Louisiana RvisedStatutesl5:1501-151protectpeoplevhoare60 or oldefrom physical
or emotional abusaswell asneglectby caregivers. The law also protects seniorfrom self-
neglect. The law protects seniordrom other peoplemisusing or stealingtheir money. This
provides thegpossibility of criminal penaltiesagainst individualshat aredeemedo haveabused
anolder personHowever it does not providéor civil penalties.

LouisianaRevisedStatute 15:1504 protecs adultswho cannotphysically or mentally
protectthemselvesand who are harmel or threatenedvith harm throughaction or inaction by
themselvesor by the individuals responsibleor their care or by other parties, by requiring
mandatoryeportingof suspectedasef abuser neglectby anypersorhavingreasonableause
to believe thatsuchacaseexists. It is intendedhat,asaresultof suchreports protectiveservices
shallbe providedo the adult.

This statuteprovides aneansto protectthe elderfrom abuseanddoes not providéor a
independentauseof actionfor damagedy a child (who is not appointeds guardian)andwho
suspectshathisfatherwasbeing“abused’by othermemberof thefamily. Louisiana wouldlso
not haveanyjurisdiction of theallegedconductof his brothergegardingthe careof their father,
who waslocatedin Michigan.DeanJr.’s allegationsarefutile andtherequesto sue his brothers

is denied
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b. Mail Fraud, Wire Fraud, RICO

DeanJr.allegeghathisbrotherampersonatetiimin hisroleasadministratoof theestate,
committedmail fraud,wire fraud,bankfraud, money launderingndreceivedstolenmoneycross
stateborcers. R. Doc. 33-1, §201.

Mail fraudis a criminal offensepursuanto 18 U.S.C. § 134118 U.S.C. § 241 which
criminalizesconspiracyis the"criminal analogudo 8 1985(3)" Griffin v. Breckenridge403U.S.
88, 98 (1971)Likewise,18 U.S.C. § 24 the"criminal counterpartto 42 U.S.C. 8§ 198 RAdickes
v. S.H. Kressé& Co., 398U.S.144, 166 (1970).

Unlike their civil equivalents!criminal statutes . . do not provide basisto imposecivil
liability." SeeRandolphv. U.S.Dep'tof Justiceldentity TheftTaskForce,No. WMN-16-36, 2016
WL 112545t *2 (D. Md. Jan.8, 2016)(citing Flowersv. Tandy Corp, 773 F.2d 58%4th Cir.
1985)). Thus![w]hile criminal penaltiesmayariseunder [18 U.S.C. § 24 1thereis no authority
givenfor privatecitizensto bring acivil suitfor damagesinderthis provision."Taccinov. City of
Cumberland, M., WMN-09-2703, 2010WL 3070146at*2 (D. Md. Aug. 5, 2010) Nor is there
acivil causeof actionfor violation of § 242 .SeeUnited States. Lanier, 520U.S.259, 270 (1997)
(notingthat"[42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983hasacivil and[18 U.S.C. § 242] ariminal role"). No private
right of actionexistsfor mail fraud. SeeUhre v. EmmettA. Larkin Co., 205F. Supp. 2d 475, 478
(D. Md. 2002).

ConstruingDean Jr.’s claim liberally, mail fraud qualifies as racketeeringactivity, for
which a civil action exists under theRacketeerinfluenced and Corrupt OrganizationsAct
("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. § 196&tseq Seel8 U.S.C. § 1961 (Xpefiningracketeerin@ctivity). RICO
"is concerneavith eradicatingporganized, londerm,habitualcriminalactivity,” not™all instances

of wrongdoing."Mitchell Traceyv. First Am. Title Ins. Co., 935F. Supp. 2d 826, 84(D. Md.
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2013) (quotindJ.S.Airline PilotsAss'nv. AwappalLLC, 615 F.3d 312, 31{&th Cir. 2010).When
an enterpriseinvolved in interstatecommerceengagesn "a patternof racketeeringactivity or
collection of unlawful debt,"RICO provides acauseof actionagainstany individual associated
with the enterpriseand participatingin the racketeeringactivity. 18 U.S.C. 8 1962(c)Theterm
“enterprisé is definedbroadlyto includeany “group of individualsassociatedn fact.” Kings
Square Partnership. South Savings & Loan Associatjd®87WL 9811(E.D.La. Apr. 16, 1987).
A patternof racketeeringactivity is “at leasttwo acts” indictableunderan enumeratiorof state
andfederalcriminal laws.1d.

To statea claim for relief basel on aviolation of § 1962(c),DeanJr. mustallege"(1)
conduct(2) of anenterpris€3) through gpatten (4) of racketeering@ctivity." Sedima, S.P.R.W.
ImrexCo.,473U.S.479, 496 (1985). Additionally, thenterprisemustaffectinterstatecommerce.
SeeDay v. DB Capital Group,LLC, No. DKC-10-1658, 201 WL 887554 ,at*13 (D. Md. Mar.
11, 2011)..To allegethatDefendantengagedn apatternof racketeeringctivity, Plaintiff must
pleadsufficientfactsto allege ™ continuity plusrelationship,™ i.e. that Defendant®ngagedn at
leasttwo relatedoffenseghatconstitute racketeeringctivities,andthatthoseactivitiesamount
to or pose dahreatof continuedcriminal activity.™ U.S. Airline Pilots, 615 F.3dat 318 (quoting
H.J.Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 492U.S.229, 239, 10%. Ct. 2893, 104_. Ed. 2d 195 (1989))t

It is noteworthythatwhile two actsarenecessarytheymaynotbesufficient.H.J.Inc., 492
U.S.at237 (quotingSedima473U.S.at 496 n.14)as™proof of two acts,without moe, does not
establisha pattern.ld. at 238 (quoting 116 CongRec. 18940 (1970)(statementof Sen.
McClellan)).Rather Plaintiff must &monstrat@itheraclosedperiod ofrepeatectonductor past
conductthatby its natureprojectsinto thefuturewith athreatof repetition.ld. at241.Openended

continuity existswhere"the racketeeringactsthemselvesnclude aspecificthreatof repetition
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extendingindefinitely into the future,” or "the predicateactsor offensesare part of an ongoing
entity's regular way of doing business" otthe predicatesare a regular way of conducting
defendant's ongoinlggitimatebusiness . . . ®RRICO 'enterprise."ld. at 242-43.Yet, openended
continuity is not presentwhenthe fraudulentictsoccurin anisolatedsale.SeeGE Investment
Private Placemenfartnersll v. Parker,247 F.3d 543, 549-5@th Cir. 2001).

Although mail fraud may qualify as a racketeeringactivity, DeanJr. does nogllegethat
mail wasthemeangoy which his brothers withdrew the funéi®m thebank. Further,DeanJr.’s
allegationsin the complaintestablishthat his brotherDwight was given power ofattorneyto
transactbusiness orbehalf of his father, which naturally would includeaccesdo the father’'s
financesheldin banks.

The Court notedhat the allegationsin the complaint do natonstitutea claim for mail
fraud. Further,his claim of bankfraud is futile. Finally, the claim of wire fraud is definedas
“having devisedor intendingto deviseany schemeor artifice to defraud... transmitsor causegso
betransmittedy meanfwire, radio, ortelevisioncommunication..for the purposef executing
suchschemeor artifice.” 18 U.S.C. § 13431In thecomplaint,DeanJr. fails to asserallegations
indicatinghow ather of his brothergxecuteda schemdo defraudhim by their actionsregarding
the successiorof their father.Fraudis to be specificallypled pursuanto FederalRule of Civil
Proceduré®(b).

DeanJr.’s attemptto asserta wire fraud claim againsthis brothersfails for the reasons
assignedabove. As aresult,to thedegreeghatDeanJr. intendedo usesheseclaimsaspredicate
actsfor aRICO claim, this attemptfails andthe requestio assertheseclaimsagainstDwight and

Darrylis deniedbecauseheyarefutile.
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5. Orleans Parish

DeanJr. allegesthat the Rarishof Orleanshadinstitutionally a policyto violate the “due
procesgights of indigent” dark-skinnedminority partiessubjectto contempt of courtDeanthen
allegesthat the Civil District Courtin the Parishof Orleans which he believeswas under the
leadershipof thechief judge, themayor, andthe Louisiana Suprem€ourt had a “well-known
documented custom, poligndpracticeof failing to protecttherights of dark-skinned citizens
chargedwith criminal contemptin Civil Court.”R. Doc. 33-1, 1208-213e allegesthatthechief
judge, Louisiana Supreme Couandthe Parishof Orleansfailed to train the judgesof the Civil
District Courtresultingin harmto indigentminorities.

Municipalitiesandlocal government unitsire personssubjectto liability under§ 1983
Monellv. Dep't of Soc.Servicesof City of NewYork,436U.S. 658, 690 (1978)Therefore Jocal
governing bodie$can besueddirectly underg§ 1983for monetarydeclaratorypr injunctiverelief
where, ... the action that is allegedto be unconstitutionalimplementsor executesa policy
statementprdinance, regulation, atecisionofficially adoptedand promulgatedby that body's
officers.” Id. A local governing body, however, cannot lbeld liable on the basisof respondeat
superior.ld. Rather,plaintiff must demonstratéhat the local governmengentity had an official
policy (or custom)which wasa “movingforce” behind a constitutionaliolation that a “policy
maker” of thelocal governmenentity knew of, or must have known abouseePinedav. City of
Houston,291 F.3d 325, 32&th Cir. 2002)(citationomitted).

As aninitial matter,theParishof Orleanss differentthantheCity of Orleanswhichis the
actualmunicipality. Second, theCity hasno authority over th@udiciary and does notsetany
policiessettingforth theadministratiorof the courts, nas it responsibldor thetrainingof judges.

In contrast,the powers of thgudiciary flow from the StateConstitutionand are vestedin the
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various courtsLa. Const.art. ll, sectionl; La Const.art.V, sectionl. DeanJr.’s claim against
the Rarishof Orleands futile. As aresult,therequesto amendo assertaclaimagainstheParish
of Orleanss denied

6. JoanD. Heisser

JoanHeisser the Presidenof GreatDevelopmentand Realtors wasalsosuedby Dean
Jr. He contendshatsheforcedthesaleof the Succession’s propeitycontravention of hitathers
wishes. He allegeshatshehadpreviously sold a housextdoorto his parent’spropertywith an
encroachmenobn it. He alsoidentified Heisserin counteighieenas havingcommittedfraud.
However he does natetforth anyactsof fraud by Heisser.

FederalRule of Civil Procedure Rule(B) requiresparticularitywhen pleading‘fraud or
mistake,'while allowing"[m]alice, intent,knowledgeandother conditions of a persomsnd [t0]
beallegedgenerally."Fed.R. Civ. P.9(b).But "generally"is arelativeterm.In thecontextof Rule
9, it is to be comparedo the particularity requirementapplicableto fraud or mistake. Rule 9
merelyexcusesa party from pleadingdiscriminatoryintent undeman elevatedpleadingstandard.
It does nogive him licensdo evadethelessrigid--thoughstill operative-stricturesof Rule 8.See
5A C.Wright & A. Miller, FederaPracticeandProcedure 8§ 1301, p 293ded.2004)("[A] rigid
rule requiring thedetailedpleadingof a condition oimind would be undesirdé becauseabsent
overriding considerations pressify a specificity requirementasin the caseof avermentsof
fraud or mistake,the general'shortand plain statemenbf the claim' mandatan Rule8(a). . .
should control theecondsentencef Rule 9(b)").

In this case DeanJr. only allegesthat Heissersold the property despite hdads wishes.
He does notllegehow this amountgo fraud or any otherclaim. He alsodoes notndicatewhy

he,afterhavingbeendisinherited would be the proper perstmadvance alaimthatwould have
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allegedy resultedin injury to his fathers property. Further, hefails to explain how her prior
actionsin the saleof the houseavith an encroachmenamountgo fraud. The Court,therefore
finds thattheclaim againstloanHeisselis futile. Therequesto permitthefiling of the proposed
amendeds denied

7. The Financial Defendants

DeanJr,, who was disinherited allegesthat Capitol One unlawfully releasedhe money
heldin thesuccessHe believesthat his brothersmpersonatedhim in his roleasadministratorof
the estatecommittedmail fraud, wire fraud,bankfraud, money launderinggngagedn interstate
or foreign transportation omorethan $5000in stolenmoneyandreceivedstolenmoneycross
stateborders. He further allegesthat the ChicagoleacherdJnion and HancockHoldingswere
negligentby allowing his brotherdo emptytheaacounts belongingo his dad, hisnom’s safety
deposit boxanda moneymarketfund ofover$100,000.00.

First, DeanJr. does notallegewhy he would have standing challengethe releaseof
deposited fund# either bankinginstitution becausehe accountsverein his parentsnameand
his father disinheritedhim. Second, theallegationsdo notset forth any harm he may have
sustained. Thiearm if any, could onlyhavebeento hisfatherwho granted the poweaf attorney
to his sorDwight. Thecourt findsthatthe proposedlaimsagainsiCapitolOne,ChicagoTeachers
Union, and HancockHoldingsare thereforefutile. The requestto amendthe complainto add
themasdefendantss denied.

8. Melanie Duplechain

DeanJr. alsosuedMelanie Duplechainfor converson. He allegesthat Ms. Duplechain
coercedisfather,DeanGilbert, Sr.to makerealestatdransfersHe allegeshatthetransferavere

for thebenefitof the othedefendantsvho liquidatedthe property.
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UnderLouisianalaw, aconversionoccurs when:
(1) possessiors acquiredn anunauthorizeananner;
(2) the chattelis removedfrom oneplaceto anotherwith the intentto exercise
control overt;
(3) possessionf thechattelis transferredvithout authority;
(4) possessiors withheldfrom the owner or possessor;
(5) thechattelis alteredor destroyed,;
(6) thechattelis usedimproperly; or
(7) ownerships asserteaver thechattel.

Dual Drilling Co. v. Mills Equip. Invs Inc.., 721 So. 2d 853, 85fLa. 1998). The intent
requirements “not conscious wrongdoing, brather,anintentto exercisea dominion or control
over the goodshatis inconsistentvith another's rights. Tubos deAcerode Mex.,SA292 F.3d
411, 479(5th Cir. 2002)(citing La. StateBar Ass'nv. Hinrichs, 486 So.2d 116, 121 (La.1986)).
Further,it does notatter‘what subsequerdpplicationwas madeof the convertedproperty, or
thatdefendantlerivedno benefitfrom hisact.” Quealyv. Paine,WebberJackson& Curtis, Inc.,
475 So.2d 756, 760 (La.1989hereforefor DeanJr.to succeean hisconversiorclaim, hemust
prove: (1) he ownedthe real estatethat was sold by Duplechain;(2) that Duplechainusedthe
propertyin a manrer inconsistentvith DeanJr.’s right of ownership; and3) the possession
constituteda wrongful withholding of the propertySeeChryslerCredit Corp.v. Perry Chrysler
Plymouth/nc., 783 F.2d 480, 484th Cir. 1986).However whentheownerconsentso or ratifies
the taking of his property, hie estoppedrom bringinganactionfor conversionBlair v. Source
OneMortgageServicesCorp.,1997WL 250040(E.D. La. May 9, 1997)(citing Aymondv. State,
Dept.of Revenu& Taxation,672 So.2d 273, 27@a. App. 1stCir. 1996)).

In thiscaseDeanJr.clearlyindicateghattherealestateatissuewashisfather’srealestate
not DeanJr.’s. As aresult,becauséeanJr. did notown thereal estatethat wastransferredhis

attempto asseraclaimfor conversiorails. The courtalsonoteghathehadno ownershipnterest
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in his father’'sportion of the propertpecauséewasdisinheritedby his father, who executeda
will doingso before hideath. Therefore DeanJr.’srequesto permitthefiling of the proposed
amendmenseekingo asseria conversiomlaimagainstDuplechains futile andthereforedenied

9. Louisiana SupremeCourt

DeanJr. allegesthat Louisiana Supreme Couid requiredto keepall recordsof their
investigatioranddiscipline of Judg€ateswhopresidedver his mother’'successioproceeding.
DeanJr. points outhathewantedto include acopyof the complaint héled againstludgeCates
in this proceeding, bulhe neededa waiverto do sowhich wasnot grantedoy the Court. Dean
allegesthat Rule XXII1, Section23 (which is incorrectlyidentified as Rule XXIl, Section23),
which providesfor the confidential nature gfidiciary complaintsis unconstitutionahsapplied
to him becauset precludes hinfrom revealingJudgeCate’smotivesfor his “retaliatoryaction”
DeanJr. allegesthat the court’srestrictionis unconstitutionabnd the court should be enjoined

from concealinghisdisciplinarycomplaintagainstthe judge.

Rule XXIII, Section23 is titled ‘Confidential’ and provideshat “(a) (1) all documents
filed with, andevidenceandproceeding®eforethe JudiciaryCommissionor its hearingofficers
areconfidential.Confidentialitymay not bewaivedby the respondentidge; however, thgudge
mayrequestwaiverof confidentialityfrom the Supreme Court or ti@®mmissionin accordance
with the provisions othis section.The recordfiled by the Commissionwith this Court and
proceedingsbefore this Court are not confidential and “(2) The Commissionmay provide
documentsevidence andinformationfrom confidenial proceedingso entitiesor individualsin

appropriatecaseswithoutthis Court’'sapprovaljn accordancevith Subsectiorfb).”

Subsectiorfb) providesthatthe information, althougbonfidentia] maybereleasedo law

enforcementagenciesand thejudgesand lawyers assistancerogram,if the judgeis up for
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appointment thenformationmaybereleasd to anystateor federalagency, or pursuatda awaiver
by thejudgeor awaiver of confidentiallyby the Supreme Court @ommission.

Rule 17(b) of thé&ederaRulesof Civil Procedurenstructsthat“capacityto sue or bsued
isdetermined.. bythelaw of thestatewherethe courislocated’ Fed.R. Civ. P.17(b).Therefore,
the Court mustletermineasaninitial matter,whetherthe LouisanaSupreme Couthasthelegal
capacityto sueor be sued.

Under Louisiandaw, an entity must qualifyasa “natural person” or &juridical person”
to possesshe capacityto sue or be sue&ee,e.g.,Dugasv. City of Breaux Bridgdolice Dep't,
99-1320(La. App. 3Cir. 2/2/00); 757 So.2d 741, 74B.is clearthatthe Supreme Coui$ not a
naturalperson. Auridical personis “an entity to which thelaw attributespersonalitysuchasa
corporation or partnershipl’a. Civ. Code. annart. 24. Commen(td) to article 24 also provides
that “the capacity of a juridical personis governedby provisionsin its charter, governing
legislation,andcustoms.’La. Civ. Code. Annart.24,cmt.(d). “[I]n theabsenc®flaw providing
thatanentity maysue or be sued, tlemtity lackssuchcapacity.”’Dantzlerv. Pope No. 08-3777,
2009 WL 959508, *1(E.D. La. Apr. 3, 2009)(Africk, J.) (citing City Council ofLafayettev.
Bowen 94-584, 649 So.2d 611, 6(5. App. 3dCir. 11/2/99.

In Robertsv. Sewerage &Vater Bd. of New Orleans,the Supreme Cousetforth the
frameworkfor determiningwhetheran entity qualifiesasajuridical personand,asaresult,has
the capacityto sueandbe sued:

Theimportantdeterminatiorwith respecto thejuridical statusor legal capacityof

anentityis notits creator,norits size,shapepr label. Ratherthedeterminatiorthat

must bemadein eachparticularcaseis whetherthe entity can appropriatelybe

regardedasan additionaland separategovernment unifor the particula purpose

atissueIn theabsenc®f positivelaw to the contrary, géocal government unitnay

be deemedo be ajuridical personseparateand distinct from other government
entities,whenthe organidaw grantst thelegalcapacityto function independently
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andnot justastheagencyor division of another governmentanhtity. 92—2048,
634 So. 2d 341, 34@.a. 3/21/94).

Wherethereis no constitutional ostatutoryauthorityfor the entity to sueor be sued,hat
entityis without capacityto besuedunder theRobertsanalysis Greenv. District AttorneyOffice,
No. 08-3685, 2009L 651132, *4(E.D. La. Mar. 10, 2009)(Feldman,J.) (citing Bowen,649
So.2dat 613—-616. With thisin mind, DeanJr.’s proposecamendeccomplaintseekingto adda
claimagainstthe Louisiana Supreme Coistfutile andthereforedenied

10. Ronald M. Carrere

RonaldCarrerrealsowassuedin his individualandofficial capacityasManagerof CTC
Holdings,LLC. He allegedlyconspiredo commit “wrongful actsto violate Dean Jr.’srightsin
violation of § 1985and81986for theirmonetarygainthroughelderabuse andacebasedanimus.”
R. Doc. 33-1.DeanJr. allegeghat RonaldCarreres afriend of the judge or theeller'sagentand
he allegedlypurchasedhe propertiesit undervaluegrices.The propertiesvere presumably the
properties oDeanJr’s father.

Section1985provides acauseof actionfor civil rightsconspiracieshatdeprive a person
or classof persons of thequalprotection of théaws or of equalprivilegesandimmunitiesunder
the laws. See42 U.S.C. § 1983). However, as the Supreme Courxplainedin Griffin v.
Breckendrige403U.S.88 (1971) a8 1985 conspiracglaim requiresclassbaseddiscrimination
basedon “invidiouslydiscriminatoryanimus.”ld. at 102 n. 10.

DeanJr. seekdo allegethat Carrereandthe otherdefendantssome ofvhomareAfrican
American,conspiredo discriminateagainshim andothersbecausdeis a“dark-skinned African
American. He doesnot allegehow Carrereasthe selling agent of hidather’s properties who
allegedlypurchasedhe propertyyiolated DeanJr.’scivil rights. ThepropertiesaboutwhichDean

Jr. complainswere his father'spropertiesnot his. The degreeo which hehadaninterestin the
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properties DeanJr. does notallegethat Carrereengagedn the salewith the intentto treathim
differently becauséhe is a “dark-skinned.” Nor is thereany allegationasto the skin tone of
Carrere. DeanJr.’s claim againstCarreredoes nostatea claim of invidiousdiscriminationand
therefords futile.

DeanJr. alsoallegesa §1986c¢laim for neglectingto preventa conspiracyunder§ 1985
Seed2 U.S.C. § 198dHowever,a8 1986claimdepends uponalid § 1985claim. SeeMississippi
Women'svied.Clinic v. McMillan, 866 F.2d 788, 79&th Cir. 1989).The Plaintiffs donot plead
facts sufficient to support aconspiracyclaim under8 1985 Thus, he cannatllegea 8 1986
violation thatCarrereis liable for failing to preventtheconspiracy

11. Debra Dave

DeanJr.alsosuedDebraDave,a privatepersonandanallegedagentof the Successiomf
BernadetteGainesGilbert, who was his deceaseanother’sniece. He allegesthat Davegranted
accesgo theinterim rentalhousewhereDeanJr. lived. R. Doc. 33-1, p. 68He allegesthat his
brothersthereaftersortedthrough histemsandtook his personatffectsincluding his business
papers. He alsoallegesthat Dave had an incentiveto defamehim becausehis brotherDwight
promisedherthatif hebecameAdministratorthatthe Successiomwould hire herasanagentand
thatshe would have thirst opporturnty to buythe propety for herselfor sellit to herfriends.

In Jaubertv. CrowleyPostSignal, Inc.375 So.2d 138@.a. 1979) the Supreme Couaf
Louisiana notedhattheright to privacy “embracedour differentinterests:”(1) appropriation of
anindividual'snameor likeness (2) unreasonable intrusion @mindividual'sphysicalsolitude or
seclusion;(3) publicity which placesan individual in a falselight; and (4) unreasonable public
disclosure oembarrassingrivatefacts.ld. at 1388 The courtfurtherexplained:

In Louisiana jurisprudence, thight to privacyhasbeenvariouslydefinedas‘the
right to belet alone’and‘the right to aninviolate personality. Whereanindividual
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hassucharight, in theform of one of thanterestsoutlined above, othenembers

of societyhave a corresponding duty nioviolatethatright. A violationconstitutes

a breachof duty,or fault, andmay beactionableunderC.C. 2315 which provides

that “every act whateverof man that causesdamageto armother obliges hinby

whose fault it happenedo repair it.” Where no such right to privacy exists,

however, a person's condunhy be thecauseof another personambarrassment,
discomfiture or monetaryloss,butit will notconstitutea“legal cause,’ becauseio

duty hasbeenbreached.

Even where there right to privacy is found to exist, Louisiana courts have

distinguishedetweennvasions othatright which areactionableandthosewhich

are not. An actionable invasion of privacy occurs onkhen the defendant's

conducts unreasonable and seriousiterfereswith theplaintiff's privacyinterest.

For aninvasionto beactionablejt is not necessaryhattherebe maliciousintent

on thepart of the defendant.The reasonablenessf the defendant'sconductis

determinedyy balancingthe conflicting interestsat stake;the plaintiff's interestin

protecting his privacyfrom serious invasionsand the defendant'sinterestin
pursuing his course of conduct.
Id. at 1388-8%(internalcitationsandquotationsomitted).

BaseduponDeanJr.’s allegationsagainstDave, sheallegedlyviolated his privacyin the
Spring of 2012. A right to privacyclaim is subjectto a oneyear prescriptive period.Delictual
actionsaresubjectto a prescriptivgperiodcommencingrom thedatethatthe injury or damages
sustainedLa. C.C.art. 3492.Prescriptiormaybe interruptedoy the commencemeraf anaction
againstthe obligor.La. C.C. art. 3492. Therefore DeanJr.’s claim againsther for violating his
privacyexpiredin the Springdf 2013,andthis lawsuitwasnotfiled until May 5, 2017 four years
too late. Therefore DeanJr.’s requesto amendto assertaright to privacyclaim againstDaveis
deniedasfutile.

DeanJr. Also seels to hold Daveliable for anundescribedlefamationHis complaintin
this areais bare bonesat best. He simply allegesthat Dave had an incentiveto defamehim.

However,nowheren the eighty-two page complaint does setfor thestatementshatconstitute

defamation.
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Defamatiorclaimssoundn tort andassucharesubjecto a prescriptive of ongear, which

commenceso run from the day the injurys sustained.Alexanderv. TimesPicaywne 221 So.3rd

198 (4th Cir. 2017).Generally in the contextof defamationprescriptionbeginsto run from the

dateof the publication of thallegedlydefamatoryremarks.ld. at 203. The burden of proving
prescriptiongenerallylies with the party assertingprescription,however,when a claim has
prescribedonits facethe burdershiftsto the plaintiff to provethat his claim hasnot prescribed.
Id. In someexceptionatircumstanceghe doctrine o€ontra non valentummayserveto interrupt
pre<ription “[w]here the causeof action is neither known nor reasonably knowablgy the
plaintiff.” 1d. However,wherethe plaintiff could havelearnedof his causeof action through
reasonabléiligence,the“discoveryexception”of contra non valenturwill not applyto interrupt
prescription. 1d.

Again, theallegeddefamationby Daveoccurredin Spring of 2012andexpiredoneyear
laterin Spring 2013.Therefore DeanJr.’s proposecamendmenseekingto asserta defamation
claimagainstDaveis denied

12. Robert W. Veith, M.D.

DeanJr. dso seekso suehis mother’'s oncologisgllegedlybecauséneviolatedHIPAA
lawsandallowedhimselfto be knowrashismother’sprimarycarephysician andwhodischarged
his motheras a patientbecauseof DeanJr.’s conduct DeanJr. allegesthat Dr. Veith disagreed
with thedecisionheandhisdadmadewhenthey took higlying motherto MD Andersorbecause
Dr. Veith recommendedurgicalremovalof the cancer.DeanJr. allegesthat while his brothers
were not interestedn aidingin the complicatedhealthcaredecisions regardintheir mother,as
soonasshediedtheydecidedo use aleclaratiorof Dr. Veith to supportheir allegationsof Dean

Jr.’s“erratic andirrational behavior."R. Doc. 33-1, p. 71.
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HIPPA provides bothcivil and criminal penaltiesfor improper disclosures ahedical
information.However,all courtsto consider thenatterhaveheld that HIPPA does notreatea
privateright of action.SeeAcarav. Banks 470F.3d569, 571-7Z5th Cir.2006)(“ While noother
circuit courthasspecificallyaddressethis issue... [e]very district courtthat hasconsideredhis
issueis in agreementhatthestatutedoes not support a privaight of action”) (citationsomitted).
HIPPA“specificallyindicateshatthe Secretaryf HHS shall pursue thactionagainstanalleged
offender,not aprivateindividual.” Loganv. Dept. of VeteransAffairs, 357 F. Supp. 2d 149, 155
(D. D.C. July 28, 2004)Universityof Colorado Hospv. DenverPub. Co.340F. Supp. 2d 1142,
1144-45(D. Colo.Aug. 2, 2004).SinceHIPPA doesnot makeavailablea privateright or cause
of action,plaintiff hasno entitlementto injunctive ormonetaryrelief for allegedviolations of the
HIPPA. Howardv. Douglas Countyail, 2009WL 1504733 at *4 (D. Kan. May 28, 2009) see
alsoAcara,470 F.3dat572(“[T]here is no privatecauseof actionunderHIPPA andthereforeno
federalsubjectmatterjurisdiction.”); Smithv. Smith,2007WL 2332394 at*2 (E.D.Ky. Aug. 13,
2007 (Becauselaintiff hadno privateright of actionunderHIPPA, claim must bedismissedvith
prejudice.);Taylorv. Morse 2008WL 3822962at*6 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 13, 2008)Becausehere
is no suchright, plaintiff's HIPPA claim is not cognizableunder42 U.S.C. § 1983. Therefore,
DeanJr.’s proposecamendeccomplaintseekingto sueDr. Vieth for violating HIPPA is denied
becausdt is futile.

13. John and Mary Does 1-10, ABC Insurance Companies 1-10 and ABC Bond
Companies

DeanJr. dso seeksto sueten different unknown insuranceompaniesABC Insurance
Companies 1-1@p theextentthatthey providedoverageJohnandMary Does1-10areallegedly

unknown individuals omentities involved in the violation of the RICO statutes fraud, theft,
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conversion,identity theft, elder abuse,violation of DeanJr.’s civil and constitutionalrights,
maliciousprosecutionfalseimprisonmentandoverdetentionR. Doc. 33-1, p. 6 DeanJr. alleges
thatthatthesefictitiously nameddefendantsreresponsible, in sommaanney for theoccurrences
alleged. Id. ABC Bond Companies 1-lrenamedas“yet unknown boncompaniesvho cover
one ormoreof the defendantsId.

However fictitious party practiceis not permittedin federalcourt.Murray v. Sevier 50F.
Supp. 2d 1257, 1280M.D. Ala. 1999)(observingthatthereis “no provisionfor fictitious party
practiceunderfederallaw”); Wigginsv. Risk EnterpriseManagementimited 14 F. Supp. 2d
1279, 1279 n.IM.D. Ala. 1998)(“[T]here is nofictitious practicein theFederalCourts.”);Floyd
v. Allstate Insurance Compan¥®89F. Supp. 1435, 1436 n(M.D. Ala. 1998)(“[T]he fictitious
Defendantsxamedin Plaintiff's Complaintare dueto be dismissedtherebeing no provisiorior
fictitious party practiceunderfederallaw.”) Therefore DeanJr.’s proposecamendmenseeking
to addtheteninsurance companies, boodmpaniesandJohnandMary Does’is denied

C. Supplementalor SecondAmended Complaint

DeanJr. filed a proposed supplemental sgcondamendedccomplairt to add additional
allegationsagainstludgeCatesR. Doc. 65.He allegeshefiled amotionto recuseon February 14,
2018,andthejudgeonly grantedt afterDeanJr.filed awrit applicationandthe judgesaidhe did
sobecaus®f DeanJr.’s personakttacks. DeanJr. disputeshathe personallattackedhejudge,
his family, andstaff andindicatesthatthe judge has naitnessesdid notfile a policereport and
hasno evidencéo support theeasorfor hisrecusal.

In reviewingDeanJr.’s newamendedcomplaint,it does nostateanewclaim. It merely
provides additionafacts which have no direct bearingon thelawsuit. To the extentthat he is

challengingthe Judge’secusaldecision, has challenginghis actionasa judgefor which Judge
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Catesis absolutelyimmune. As aresult,DeanJr.’s requesto file the supplemental or second
amendedomplaintis denied.
V. Conclusion

IT 1S ORDERED that the Plaintiff's Motion for Leaveto File First Amendment of
Consolidated Complaint (R. Doc. 33)is DENIED.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED thatPlaintiff’'s Motion to File a Supplementd or Second
Amended Complaint (R. Doc. 65)is DENIED.

New Orleans Louisianathis July 13, 2018.

e fl

KAREN WELLS RQB_Y)

CHIEF UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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